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stacked potential
annual report 2010



The stacked nature of the 
resource plays identified by 
Cequence at Simonette, Alberta 
have provided the company 
with a clearly defined  
growth strategy.

Cequence Energy is a resource play-focused 
company with production in excess of  
8,000 barrels of oil equivalent as of year 
end 2010. Cequence is taking advantage of 
a company-building land base at Simonette, 
Alberta with more than 500 potential stacked 
resource play drilling locations. 

In addition to the large inventory of prospects 
and exceptional deep basin expertise, 
Cequence’s financial strength provides 
flexibility to react to changing market 
conditions and consolidation opportunities.
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why Cequence?

Cequence has a company-building  
drilling program at Simonette

500+ drilling locations

critical mass

proven deep basin  
technical experience

multi-zone potential

The new Cequence is a result of strategically combining oil  
and gas companies and assets. These combinations have not 
only resulted in achieving a critical mass, but they have also 
put the company in an enviable position with the right team, 
the right assets, and the right focus to build shareholder value.
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(1) Funds flow from operations is calculated as cash flow from operating activities before adjustments for asset retirement 
expenditures, proceeds from sale of  commodity contracts and net changes in non-cash working capital.

(2) Corporate acquisitions for the year ended December 31, 2010 includes $29,319 related to the acquisition of  Peloton Exploration 
Corp. ($645 cash) and $143,990 related to the acquisition of  Temple Energy Inc. ($2,838 cash).

(3)	 Net	debt	and	working	capital	(deficiency)	is	calculated	as	cash,	net	working	capital	less	commodity	contract	asset,	demand	credit	
facilities and excluding the current portion of  future income taxes.

(4) The long-term debt related to investments was a stand-alone credit facility with Cequence’s lender to provide short term liquidity 
to the Company in light of  the restructuring of  the asset backed MAV II notes. During the year ended December 31, 2010, the 
MAV II notes were sold and the proceeds, in addition to available cash, were used to pay down the long-term debt related to 
investments and close the facility.

THREE MONTHS ENDED  
DECEMBER 31

YEAR ENDED  
DECEMBER 31

(000’s except per share amounts) 2010 2009 % Change 2010 2009 % Change
FINANCIAL ($)
Production revenue, including  
realized hedge  $ 22,352  $ 8,847 153  $ 54,570  $ 27,983 95

Net loss (6,122) (2,656) 130 (14,518) (8,654) 68
Per share, basic and diluted (0.05) (0.07) (29) (0.21) (0.41) (49)
Funds	flow	from	operations(1) 8,029 3,161 154 19,065 3,927 385
Per share, basic and diluted 0.06 0.08 (25) 0.27 0.19 42

PRODUCTION VOLUMES 
Natural gas (Mcf/d) 38,702 10,696 262 22,956 8,348 175
Crude oil (bbls/d) 478 230 108 333 151 121
Natural gas liquids (bbls/d) 557 76 633 292 85 244
Total (boe/d) 7,485 2,089 258 4,451 1,627 174

SALES PRICES
Natural gas, including realized 
hedges ($/Mcf)  $ 4.40  $ 6.97 (37)  $ 4.63  $ 7.46 (38)

Crude oil ($/bbl) 77.24 71.65 8 74.12 65.09 14
Natural gas liquids ($/bbl) 64.13 68.82 (7) 63.88 53.91 18
Total ($/boe)  $ 32.46  $ 46.05 (30)  $ 33.59     $ 47.12 (29)

OPERATING NETBACKS ($/BOE)
Price  $ 32.46  $ 46.05 (30)  $ 33.59  $ 47.12 (29)
Royalties (3.80) (4.21) (10) (3.55) (5.33) (33)
Transportation (2.25) (4.07) (45) (2.68) (2.65) 1
Operating costs (10.20) (14.06) (27) (10.90) (16.52) (34)
Operating Netback  $ 16.21  $ 23.71 (32)  $ 16.46      $ 22.62 (27)

Capital Expenditures  $ 24,392  $ 16,526 48  $ 64,120  $ 24,836 158
Corporate Acquisitions(2) 1,444 380 280 173,309 38 N/A
Property Acquisitions (net) (4,707) 5,994 (179) 43,297 21,757 99
Total capital expenditures 21,129  $ 22,900 (8)  $ 280,726 46,631 502

Net debt and working  
capital	(deficiency)(3) (73,125) 6,010 N/A (73,125) 6,010 N/A

Long-term debt related to 
investments(4) - (18,054) (100) - (18,054) (100)

Weighted average shares  
outstanding (basic and diluted) 127,258 38,152 234 69,713 21,085 231

Undeveloped land (net acres) 293,800 145,200 102 293,800 145,200 102

highlights



3 Cequence Energy annual report 2010   

a new company  
with critical mass

letter to shareholders

The past several years have witnessed significant 
changes in the natural gas business in North America. 
The success of  horizontal drilling and multi-stage 
fracturing in both shale and tight gas reservoirs has 
caused an excess of  supply, resulting in low natural 
gas prices that are expected to persist through 2011. 
It became evident to the management teams of   
Cequence Energy Ltd. and Temple Energy Inc. that 
large scale, liquids-rich, resource based plays in a well 
capitalized company were required to compete in this 
market. In response, Cequence and Temple effected a 
series of  transactions in September, 2010, including a 
merger and the acquisition of  complementary assets 
in the Deep Basin. Management of  the two companies 
have been successfully integrated into one team and 
have focused our efforts in the Simonette area of  the  
Deep Basin. The new Cequence has a core project and the 
critical mass required to excel in this competitive natural  
gas environment. 

Cequence possesses the following essential elements 
which we believe position the Company for continued 
success in the Deep Basin:

•	 a	technical	team	with	proven	Deep	Basin	expertise;
•	 multi	zone	resource	plays	where	operating	synergies	
and	stacked	targets	can	reduce	costs;	

•	 access	 to	 gathering	 and	 processing	 facilities	 to	
guarantee	timely,	cost-effective	development;	

•	 a	 focus	 on	 liquids-rich	 gas	 targets	 that	 produce	
breakeven economics at sub $3.00 per GJ  
gas	prices;	

•	 a	balance	sheet	that	allows	for	an	aggressive	2011	
capital program.

Simonette has all the critical 
elements required for a  
substantial growth area.
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operating highlights
The Company’s operating results in 2010, highlighted 
by	significant	growth	 in	reserves,	production	and	top	
quartile	finding,	development	and	acquisition	costs	are	
as follows:

•	 Achieved	a	year	over	year	increase	in	proved	plus	
probable reserves of  284% to 48.9 MMBOE  
and increased proved reserves by 266% to  
27.3	MMBOE;

•	 Increased	the	net	present	value	of 	the	Company’s	
proved plus probable reserves by 233% to  
$525.6	million	(using	a	discount	rate	of 	10%);

•	 Achieved	 finding,	 development	 and	 acquisition	
costs including changes to future development 
capi ta l  of  $12 .67 per  BOE on a  proved 
plus probable basis and $18.25 per BOE on a  
proved	basis;

•	 Based	on	 fourth	 quarter	 production,	Cequence	
has a reserve life index of  10.0 years on a 
proven basis and 17.9 years on a proved plus  
probable	basis;

•	 Increased	average	 fourth	quarter	production	by	
258% to 7,485 BOE/d and annual production  
by 174% to 4,451 BOE/d. 

financial highlights
•	 Executed	a	series	of 	acquisitions	and	dispositions,	

including a merger with Temple, a property 
acquisition at Simonette, and the disposition of  
a non-producing property at Sinclair totaling  
$216.6 million, focusing the Company’s asset base 
at	Simonette;

•	 Spent	$64.1	million	on	drilling,	recompletions	and	
land, including $24.4 million in the fourth quarter, 
commencing	our	capital	program	at	Simonette;

•	 Significantly	reduced	costs	from	2009,	 including	
royalties by 33% to $3.55 per BOE, operating 
costs by 34% to $10.90 per BOE and general and 
administrative	costs	by	57%	to	$3.41	per	BOE;

•	 Increased	 funds	 flow	 from	operations	385%	 to	
$19.1 million from $3.9 million in the prior year 
due to higher production volumes and lower costs 
on	a	per	BOE	basis;

•	 Exited	2010	with	net	debt	of 	$73.1	million	and	bank	
lines	totaling	$110	million;	

•	 In	the	first	quarter	of 	2011	Cequence	completed	
a	bought	deal	financing	for	total	gross	proceeds	
of  $45.5 million and disposed of  assets in the 
Garrington and Virginia Hills areas for total 
proceeds of  $29.5 million. As a result, Cequence 
will fund its 2011 capital program from forecasted 
cash	flow	and	existing	bank	lines.

Simonette operations
Simonette has all the critical elements required for 
a substantial growth area. Cequence has more than 
140 net sections of  land with multi-zone potential at 
Simonette, and maintains operatorship of  the entire 
block. The first phase of  a new compressor station  
and dehydration facility with an initial capacity of   
15 MMcf/d is under construction and will add to existing 
facilities. This will give Cequence additional access to 
the 90 MMcf/d of  unutilized processing capacity at the 
Simonette gas plant. Simonette gas is rich in natural gas 
liquids	and	we	are	confident	that	the	economics	in	this	
area can compete with the lowest cost supply areas in 
North America. The primary focus of  this past winter’s 
drilling program was twofold:

•	 evaluate	the	horizontal	resource	potential	of 	the	
Wilrich	and	Montney	resevoirs;	

•	 validate	the	extent	of 	the	play	area	while	expanding	
our land base at Simonette.

Results from the winter program have exceeded our 
expectations. We have now drilled three successful 
horizontal wells, three step-out vertical wells and 
one horizontal well with a partial mechanical failure, 
confirming the extent and production characteristics  
of  the Wilrich Formation on Cequence lands. 
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legend

Results from the two successful wells currently on 
stream have yielded average IP rates of  6.5 MMcf/d 
with 25 bbl/MMcf  of  natural  gas l iquids and  
1.8 MMcf/d with 25 boepd of  natural gas liquids 
for the well with the partial mechanical failure. The 
remaining horizontal well is expected to be put on 
production in April. In addition, it is anticipated 
that increased efficiencies at the Simonette gas plant 
will increase Wilrich liquid ratios from the current  
15 bbl/MMcf  to 25 bbl/MMcf. Internal models 
indicate that these wells are expected to decline 
by approximately 60% in the first year and that 
reserves could approach 5 Bcf  of  natural gas and  
125,000 barrels of  natural gas liquids per well. Cequence 
has approximately 20 sections of  100% working interest 
lands surrounding our initial discovery. Ultimate 
spacing will depend on longer term performance but 
Cequence estimates that two to three wells per section or 
approximately 40 to 50 wells will be required. Cequence 
plans to test further extensions to the play in the second 
half  of  2011 and believes that there may be an additional 
25 to 30 net sections of  land with Wilrich potential. 

A second resource play in the Montney Formation was 
also successfully tested this winter. Two horizontal 
wells and three vertical delineation wells were drilled 
in addition to two previous vertical appraisal wells. 
The first horizontal well at 1-22 was completed with  
multi-stage slick water fracs and flowed at an average  
30 day initial rate of  642 boepd (3.1 MMcf/d of  
natural gas and 132 boepd of  natural gas liquids). A 
second horizontal well at 1-31 is located approximately  
6.5 miles north of  the 1-22 and was production tested for  
24 hours at a rate of  15 MMcf/d with 195 boepd of   
natural gas liquids. Initial free condensate recovery rates 
of  200 boepd appear lower than at 1-22 but Cequence 
expects that with continuous production expected to begin 
this spring, condensate recoveries will increase to the rates 
we produce at 1-22. It is too early to accurately predict 
the ultimate recovery for Montney wells at Simonette but 
these results indicate that the play could be very economic. 
Further	drilling	will	confirm	the	extent	of 	the	Montney	
across the 50 net sections of  Cequence land. 

stacked resource potential at Simonette

Cequence plays

Cequence zones of interest
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In addition to the Wilrich and Montney formations, 
Cequence has identified significant potential in the 
Gething, Falher and Dunvegan formations. Cequence has 
established an economic play in the Gething over the past 
6 years and other operators are actively developing the 
Falher and Dunvegan zones with horizontal drilling in 
lands adjacent to Simonette. Cequence intends to evaluate 
these opportunities with horizontal wells as part of  our 
2011 capital program. 

outlook
The natural gas business will continue to be very 
competitive. Companies with financial resources and 
technical expertise will thrive and the management 
team of  Cequence believes that the future looks 
bright	for	our	Company.	We	are	confident	that	we	can	
continue	to	deliver	top	quartile	finding	costs	and	that	
the continued focus on Simonette will lower our cost 
base to deliver excellent returns to our shareholders.  

With an increase in 2011 capital spending to approximately 
$100 million, we expect to exit the year with production 
exceeding 10,000 boepd and averaging 9,200 boepd. We 
are basing our cashflow forecast of  $50 million on a 
$3.50 CDN per GJ gas price and net debt at year end 
of  approximately $45 million which will leave Cequence 
ample room on its existing $110 million line of  credit. 

Cequence’s success is dependent on the continued hard 
work and dedication of  our staff  and I would like to 
acknowledge	the	employees,	consultants,	officers	and	
directors of  the Company for their outstanding efforts 
over the past year and their continuing role in shaping the 
future of  Cequence Energy Ltd.

 
(Signed) “Paul Wanklyn” 

Paul Wanklyn  
President	and	Chief 	Executive	Officer

March 2011
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AlbertaBritish Columbia

50 miles

Edmonton

Grande Prairie

Fort St. John

Peace River 
Arch/NE BC

Deep Basin/
Simonette-Kaybob

focused land base

Cequence’s operations are focused in the deeper portion of the 
Western Canadian Sedimentary Basin in north west Alberta and 
north east British Columbia. Primary growth areas for Cequence 
are characterized by stacked resource play formations, year-round 
access, infrastructure in place and strong corporate neighbours 
who have successful drilling programs underway.
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management’s discussion 
and analysis

This	Management’s	Discussion	and	Analysis	(“MD	&	A”)	of 	the	financial	and	operating	results	of 	Cequence	Energy	Ltd.	
(“Cequence”	or	the	“Company”)	should	be	read	in	conjunction	with	the	Company’s	audited	consolidated	financial	
statements (the “Financial Statements”) and related notes for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009.

Additional information relating to the Company, including its MD & A for the prior year and the annual information 
form (“AIF”) is available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.

This MD & A is dated March 10, 2011.

basis of presentation
The	financial	data	presented	below	has	been	prepared	in	accordance	with	Canadian	Generally	Accepted	Accounting	
Principles	(“GAAP”).	The	financial	information	presented	reflects	the	consolidated	financial	statements	of 	Cequence.	

The reporting and the measurement currency is the Canadian dollar. For the purpose of  calculating unit costs, natural 
gas is converted to a barrel of  oil equivalent (“boe”) using six thousand cubic feet of  natural gas equal to one barrel of  
oil unless otherwise stated. The term barrel of  oil equivalent (boe) may be misleading, particularly if  used in isolation. A 
boe conversion ratio for gas of  6 Mcf:1 boe is based on an energy equivalency conversion method primarily applicable 
at the burner tip and does not represent a value equivalency at the wellhead. 

Unless	otherwise	stated	and	other	than	per	unit	items,	all	figures	are	presented	in	thousands.

non-gaap measurements
Within	the	MD	&	A	references	are	made	to	terms	commonly	used	in	the	oil	and	gas	industry.	Netback	is	not	defined	by	
GAAP in Canada and is referred to as a non-GAAP measure. Netbacks equal total revenue less royalties, operating costs 
and transportation costs. Management utilizes this measure to analyze operating performance. 

Funds	flow	from	operations	is	a	non-GAAP	term	that	represents	cash	flow	from	operating	activities	before	adjustments	
for asset retirement expenditures, proceeds from sale of  commodity contracts and net changes in non-cash working capital. 
The	Company	evaluates	its	performance	based	on	earnings	and	funds	flow	from	operations.	The	Company	considers	funds	
flow	from	operations	a	key	measure	as	it	demonstrates	the	Company’s	ability	to	generate	the	cash	flow	necessary	to	fund	
future	growth	through	capital	investment	and	to	repay	debt.	The	Company’s	calculation	of 	funds	flow	from	operations	
may	not	be	comparable	to	that	reported	by	other	companies.	Funds	flow	from	operations	per	share	is	calculated	using	
the same weighted average number of  shares outstanding used in the calculation of  income (loss) per share.

Non-GAAP	financial	measures	do	not	have	a	standardized	meaning	prescribed	by	GAAP	and	are	therefore	unlikely	to	
be comparable to similar measures presented by other issuers.

overview
On July 29, 2009 the shareholders of  Cequence (formerly Sabretooth Energy Ltd.) approved certain reorganization 
transactions to recapitalize the Company with new equity, appoint new management and restructure the board of  directors. 
Also as part of  the transaction the Company changed its name to Cequence Energy Ltd. and affected a four for one 
share consolidation (the “Reorganization Transactions”). These transactions were approved by the shareholders of  the 
Company at the annual and special meeting of  shareholders held on July 29, 2009. 
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The Reorganization Transactions included a private placement to new management, employees, directors and consultants, 
a rights offering to existing shareholders and a subscription receipts offering. Cash proceeds from the equity offerings 
totalled $65,315, a portion of  which was used to eliminate the outstanding operating bank line and complete three property 
acquisitions in 2009.

On August 18, 2009, Cequence announced that it had entered into two separate purchase and sale agreements. The 
acquisitions	were	completed	in	the	third	quarter	of 	2009	for	total	consideration	of 	$17,250,	subject	to	final	adjustment.	
Production at the time of  acquisition of  the acquired assets was approximately 850 boe/d (90 percent natural gas). 

On November 12, 2009, the Company acquired all of  the issued and outstanding shares of  HFG Holdings Inc. (“HFG”) 
not already held by Cequence for consideration of  2,645 common voting shares valued at $3.97 per share based on the 
average trading price of  the Company’s stock during the three days before and three days after the announcement of  the 
transaction. Transaction costs were $380 for a total acquisition cost of  $10,882. The transaction was accounted for using 
the purchase method. The elimination of  the non-controlling interest through an acquisition at a purchase price greater 
than	HFG’s	book	value	in	the	Company’s	consolidated	financial	statements	had	the	effect	of 	increasing	property	and	
equipment assets, and decreasing future income tax assets. 

On June 11, 2010, the Company acquired all of  the issued and outstanding shares of  Peloton Exploration Corp. 
(“Peloton”), a private oil and gas company, for consideration of  12,059 common voting shares. The shares were 
valued	based	on	Cequence’s	five	day	weighted	average	trading	price	on	the	TSX	before	and	after	the	announcement	
of  the transaction. The transaction was accounted for using the purchase method whereby the assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed are recorded at their fair value. The accounts of  the Company include the results of  Peloton effective  
June 11, 2010. The purchase price allocation is as follows:

($000’s)
COST OF ACQUISITION
Common shares (12,059 at $2.51) 30,269
Transaction costs 645
TOTAL 30,914

($000’s)
FAIR VALUE OF THE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ACQUIRED
Property and equipment 29,319
Fair value of  commodity contracts 339
Bank debt (4,984)
Working	capital	deficiency (1,031)
Asset retirement obligations (552)
Future income tax assets – non-current 7,918
Future income tax liabilities – current (95)
TOTAL 30,914

On July 27, 2010, Cequence sold certain non-producing gas weighted properties in the Sinclair region of  Northwest 
Alberta	for	total	cash	consideration	of 	$36,900,	subject	to	final	adjustments.	No	gain	or	loss	resulted	on	the	sale	as	the	
sale did not change the depletion rate of  the Company by more than 20 percent.

On	August	19,	2010,	the	Company	completed	the	sale	of 	3,200	shares	on	a	CEE	“flow-through”	private	placement	
basis	at	$2.50	per	share	for	proceeds	of 	$8,000	as	well	as	870	shares	on	a	CDE	“flow-through”	private	placement	
basis at $2.30 per share for proceeds of  $2,001, resulting in a total issuance of  4,070 common voting shares for total 
proceeds of  $10,001. Under the terms of  the respective agreements, Cequence is required to renounce $8,000 of  
CEE expenditures and $2,001 of  CDE expenditures in February 2011. The qualifying CDE and CEE expenditures 
must be incurred by December 31, 2011 pursuant to the terms of  the related agreements. As at December 31, 2010,  
the Company has incurred all of  the qualifying CDE expenditures and approximately $5,190 of  the qualifying  
CEE expenditures.

On August 19, 2010, the Company completed the sale of  18,545 subscription receipts at a price of  $2.10 per subscription 
receipt for total proceeds of  $38,945. The subscription receipts were convertible to Cequence common voting shares 
without further consideration upon the closing of  the Deep Basin Assets acquisition (see below). Upon closing of  the Deep 
Basin Assets acquisition on September 8, 2010, the subscription receipts were converted on a one for one basis, for no 
additional consideration and without further action, into common voting shares of  the Company. On September 17, 2010, 
Cequence completed the sale of  2,500 common voting shares related to an over-allotment option on the subscription 
receipts offering discussed above at $2.10 per share for total proceeds of  $5,250.
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On September 8, 2010, the Company closed the acquisition of  certain gas weighted properties located in the Simonette 
area	of 	Northwest	Alberta	(the	“Deep	Basin	Assets”).	The	purchase	price,	subject	to	final	adjustments,	was	$85,000.	An	
asset retirement obligation of  $3,683 has been recognized as part of  the acquisition.

On September 10, 2010, the Company acquired all of  the issued and outstanding shares of  Temple Energy Inc. (“Temple”), 
a private oil and gas company, for consideration of  46,846 common voting shares. The acquisition was effected by way of  
a plan of  arrangement, whereby Cequence Acquisitions Ltd., a newly formed subsidiary of  the Company, was amalgamated 
with	Temple	and	continued	as	Cequence	Acquisitions	Ltd.	The	shares	were	valued	based	on	Cequence’s	five	day	weighted	
average	trading	price	on	the	TSX	before	and	after	the	announcement	of 	the	transaction.	The	transaction	was	accounted	for	
using the purchase method whereby the assets acquired and liabilities assumed are recorded at their fair value. The accounts 
of  the Company include the results of  Temple effective September 10, 2010. The purchase price allocation is as follows:

($000’s)
COST OF ACQUISITION
Common shares (46,846 at $2.28) 106,809
Transaction costs 2,838
TOTAL 109,647

($000’s)
FAIR VALUE OF THE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ACQUIRED
Property and equipment 143,990
Fair value of  commodity contracts 4,201
Bank debt (36,423)
Working	capital	deficiency (3,834)
Asset retirement obligations (5,902)
Future income tax assets – non-current 8,798
Future income tax liabilities – current (1,183)
TOTAL 109,647

On September 10, 2010, Cequence completed the sale of  2,950 common voting shares through a private placement to a major 
shareholder as well as certain management and directors of  the Company at $2.10 per share for total proceeds of  $6,195.

On November 30, 2010, the Company completed the sale, on a private placement basis, of  2,250 units at a price of   
$2.00 per unit for total proceeds of  $4,500. Each unit entitles the holder to:

•	 one	common	voting	share	on	a	CDE	“flow-through”	basis;	
•	 one	warrant	to	purchase	one	common	voting	share	on	a	CDE	“flow-through”	basis	at	any	time	on	or	after		

August 1, 2011 and prior to August 15, 2011 at a price set as a 10 percent premium to the 10 day volume weighted 
average	 trading	 price	 of 	 the	Company’s	 shares	 on	 the	TSX	 for	 the	 period	 July	 18,	 2011	 to	 July	 29,	 2011	 
(the	“2011	Warrants”);	and	

•	 one	warrant	to	purchase	one	common	voting	share	on	a	CDE	“flow-through”	basis	at	any	time	on	or	after	August	
1, 2012 and prior to August 15, 2012 at a price set as a 10 percent premium to the 10 day volume weighted average 
trading	price	of 	the	Company’s	shares	on	the	TSX	for	the	period	July	18,	2012	to	July	31,	2012	(the	“2012	Warrants).	

The purchaser has unconditionally committed to exercise the 2011 Warrants prior to August 15, 2011 and Cequence 
has exercised the option to hold 1,500 of  the shares initially issued in escrow until such time as the 2011 Warrants are 
exercised. If  the 2011 Warrants are not exercised, the shares held in escrow shall be cancellable at no cost to Cequence 
and no redress to the shareholder. The 2012 Warrants are conditional on the exercise of  the 2011 Warrants and if  the 2011 
Warrants are not exercised in accordance with their terms, the 2012 Warrants become null and void. No value has been 
attributed to the 2011 Warrants or 2012 Warrants as they are issuable at the prevailing value of  the stock at the time of  
issuance. As at December 31, 2010, the Company has incurred approximately $3,000 of  the qualifying CDE expenditures.
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subsequent events
On	March	2,	2011,	Cequence	filed	a	preliminary	short	form	prospectus	to	qualify	the	distribution	of 	11,650	common	
voting	shares	at	$2.85	per	share	for	gross	proceeds	of 	$33,203	and	2,100	common	voting	shares	on	a	CDE	“flow-through”	
basis at $3.50 per share for gross proceeds of  $7,350. The sale is to occur on a bought deal basis with gross proceeds 
totalling $40,553 and is expected to close on March 17, 2011. Cequence further granted the underwriters an over-allotment 
option to purchase an additional 1,748 common voting shares for $2.85 per share for gross proceeds of  $4,980, for a 
period of  up to 30 days following the closing of  the offering. There can be no assurance that the over-allotment option 
will be exercised.

On March 3, 2011, Cequence entered into an agreement to sell certain oil and gas properties in central Alberta for total 
cash consideration of  $22,000, subject to adjustments.

selected financial information

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31
($000’s) 2010 2009 2008
Production revenue, including realized hedge  $ 54,570  $ 27,983  $ 46,953
Funds	flow	from	operations 19,065 3,927 20,589
 Per share – basic and diluted 0.27 0.19 2.11
Net loss (14,518) (8,654) (8,179)
 Per share – basic and diluted (0.21) (0.41) (0.84)
Total assets 456,636 208,111 164,646
Demand credit facilities 57,125 - 47,970
Long-term debt related to investments  $ -  $ 18,054  $ -

A	reconciliation	of 	cash	flow	from	operating	activities	to	funds	flow	from	operations	is	as	follows:

THREE MONTHS 
ENDED DECEMBER 31

YEAR ENDED 
DECEMBER 31

($000’s) 2010 2009 2010 2009
Cash	flow	from	operating	activities  $ 14,115  $ 11,151  $ 20,308  $ 13,528
Asset retirement expenditures 21 58 126 75
Proceeds from sale of  commodity 
contracts (3,386) - (3,386) -

Net change in non-cash working capital (2,721) (8,048) 2,017 (9,676)
Funds	flow	from	operations  $ 8,029  $ 3,161  $ 19,065  $ 3,927

Cequence	recorded	a	loss	of 	$14,518	for	the	year	ended	December	31,	2010.	Net	income	(loss)	and	funds	flow	from	
operations for the period were negatively impacted by low natural gas prices. 

Funds	flow	from	operations	was	$19,065	for	the	year	ended	December	31,	2010	compared	to	funds	flow	of 	$3,927	for	
the	year	ended	December	31,	2009.	The	increase	in	funds	flow	is	due	largely	to	an	increase	in	revenue	resulting	from	the	
expanded production base of  the Company through acquisitions completed in 2010 and 2009.
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results of operations
Average production volumes, revenue and prices for the three and twelve month periods ended December 31, 2010 and 
2009 are outlined below:

THREE MONTHS ENDED 
DECEMBER 31

YEAR ENDED 
DECEMBER 31

2010 2009 2010 2009
PRODUCTION
Natural Gas (Mcf/d) 38,702 10,696 22,956 8,348
Crude Oil (bbls/d) 478 230 333 151
Natural gas liquids (bbls/d) 557 76 292 85
Total (boe/d) 7,485 2,089 4,451 1,627
Total production (boe) 688,579 192,153 1,624,519 593,825

($000’s)
REVENUE
Natural gas  $ 14,054     $ 4,879  $ 34,800     $ 13,413
Realized gains on natural gas contracts 1,621 1,973 3,956 9,319
Total natural gas 15,675 6,852 38,756 22,732
Crude Oil 3,393 1,516 9,015 3,579
Natural gas liquids 3,284 479 6,799 1,672
Total production revenue  $ 22,352    $ 8,847  $ 54,570    $ 27,983

AVERAGE PRICES
Natural gas ($/Mcf)  $ 3.95   $ 4.96  $ 4.15  $ 4.40
Realized natural gas hedge ($/Mcf) 0.45 2.01 0.48 3.06
Natural gas including realized hedge 
gains and losses ($/Mcf) 4.40 6.97 4.63 7.46

Crude Oil (per bbl) 77.24 71.65 74.12 65.09
Natural gas liquids (per bbl) 64.13 68.82 63.88 53.91
Average sales price before hedge  
(per boe)  $ 30.11  $ 35.78  $ 31.16  $ 31.43

Average sales price including hedge  
(per boe)  $ 32.46  $ 46.05  $ 33.59  $ 47.12

production
Production for the year ended December 31, 2010 averaged 4,451 boe/d compared to production of  1,627 boe/d 
in the year ended December 31, 2009. Production for the three months ended December 31, 2010 averaged  
7,485 boe/d compared to production of  2,089 boe/d in the fourth quarter of  2009. The increase in production is due 
to property acquisitions completed in 2009, the acquisition of  Peloton completed in the second quarter of  2010, the 
acquisitions of  Temple and the Deep Basin Assets completed in the third quarter of  2010, as well as new drilling and 
recompletions in 2010. 

revenue
Total production revenue was $22,352 in the fourth quarter of  2010 compared to $8,847 for the comparable period in 
2009. The increase in revenue is mainly attributable to the 258 percent increase in production, offset by a 30 percent 
decrease in realized sales prices. For the year ended December 31, 2010, total production revenue increased 95 percent to 
$54,570 from $27,983 in the prior year. The increase is the result of  a 174 percent increase in production volumes, offset 
by a 29 percent decrease in realized sales prices.
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pricing
Cequence realized a natural gas price including hedging gain (as described below) for the three and twelve month periods 
ended December 31, 2010 of  $4.40 per Mcf  and $4.63 per Mcf, respectively. The realized prices for the year ended 
December 31, 2010 are above prevailing market prices as 6,000 gj per day of  the Company’s natural gas production in the 
first	quarter	was	sold	at	a	price	of 	$7.85	per	gj	under	a	fixed	price	contract,	which	expired	March	31,	2010.	The	Company	
also assumed commodity contracts on the acquisitions of  Peloton and Temple (see ‘Commodity Price Management’ 
below). Further, 2,800 Mcf/d of  the Company’s natural gas production in the year ended December 31, 2010 was sold 
at Chicago which was at a premium to AECO prices. Cequence’s production is approximately 86 percent natural gas and 
consequently,	fluctuations	in	natural	gas	prices	have	a	significant	impact	on	the	Company.

Oil prices for the fourth quarter of  2010 were $77.24 per barrel, up 8 percent from the same time period in 2009. Oil 
prices for the year ended December 31, 2010 were $74.12 per barrel, up 14 percent from the same period in 2009. Natural 
gas liquids prices for the fourth quarter of  2010 were $64.13 per barrel, down 7 percent from the same time period in 
2009. Natural gas liquids prices for the year ended December 31, 2010 were $63.88 per barrel, up 18 percent from the 
same period in 2009.

Benchmark natural gas prices were lower whereas crude oil and natural gas liquids prices were higher than the three and 
twelve month comparative periods in 2009. The following table details the Company’s benchmark indices:

THREE MONTHS ENDED  
DECEMBER 31

YEAR ENDED 
DECEMBER 31

BENCHMARK PRICING 2010 2009 2010 2009
AECO-C Spot (CDN$/Mcf)  $ 3.61  $ 4.62  $ 3.99  $ 4.00
WTI crude oil (US$/bbl) 85.16 76.03 79.38 61.87
Edmonton par price (CDN$/bbl) 80.91 77.05 78.16 66.91
US$/CDN$ exchange rate 0.99 0.95 0.97 0.88

commodity price management

THREE MONTHS ENDED 
DECEMBER 31

YEAR ENDED 
DECEMBER 31

2010 2009 2010 2009
Realized gain on commodity contracts  $ 1,621  $ 1,973  $ 3,956  $ 9,319
Unrealized loss on commodity 
contracts (1,445) (1,613) (2,793) (1,614)

Total  $ 176  $ 360  $ 1,163  $ 7,705

Cequence	has	a	commodity	price	risk	management	program	which	provides	the	Company	flexibility	to	enter	into	derivative	
and	physical	commodity	contracts	to	protect	future	cash	flows	for	planned	capital	expenditures.	The	Company	had	a	
natural gas contract in place that expired in March 31, 2010 for the sale of  6,000 gj per day of  natural gas for a price of  
$7.85 per gj. As part of  the acquisition of  Peloton, Cequence assumed natural gas contracts for the sale of  1,800 gj per 
day of  natural gas at prices ranging from $4.69 per gj to $5.32 per gj. As part of  the acquisition of  Temple, Cequence 
assumed natural gas contracts for the sale of  11,000 gj per day of  natural gas at prices ranging from $5.15 per gj to  
$6.20	per	gj.	On	October	15,	2010,	the	Company	completed	the	sale	of 	its	2011	fixed	price	commodity	contracts	totalling	 
4,000 gj/day at prices ranging from $5.85 to $6.20 per gj. The sale resulted in a gain recognized with realized gain on 
commodity contracts in the consolidated statement of  operations of  $219. The fair value of  derivative commodity 
contracts at December 31, 2010 is $nil compared to $1,420 at December 31, 2009. 
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royalty expense

THREE MONTHS ENDED 
DECEMBER 31

YEAR ENDED 
DECEMBER 31

($000’s) 2010 2009 2010 2009
Crown  $ 1,783  $ 700  $ 4,476  $ 1,531
Freehold/Overriding 833 109 1,293 1,633

 $ 2,616  $ 809  $ 5,769  $ 3,164

AS A % OF REVENUE, BEFORE 
HEDGING ACTIVITY
Crown 9% 10% 9% 8%
Freehold/Overriding 4% 2% 3% 9%

13% 12% 12% 17%

PER UNIT OF PRODUCTION  
($/BOE)
Crown  $ 2.59  $ 3.64  $ 2.75  $ 2.58
Freehold/Overriding 1.21 0.57 0.80 2.75

 $ 3.80  $ 4.21  $ 3.55  $ 5.33

Royalty expense in the fourth quarter of  2010 was $2,616 or 13 percent of  revenue compared to $809 or 12 percent 
of  revenue in the fourth quarter of  2009. For the year ended December 31, 2010, royalties as a percentage of  revenue 
were 12 percent compared to 17 percent in the comparative period in 2009. In the twelve months ended December 
31, 2009, there was a one-time adjustment to increase overriding royalties related to properties acquired in 2007 and 
adjustments reducing crown royalties related to previous periods. As a result, freehold and overriding royalties both 
as a percentage of  revenue and on a per barrel basis are lower in the year ended December 31, 2010 than in the 
comparative period in 2009. Crown royalties for the year ended December 31, 2010 are relatively consistent with 
the comparative period in 2009. Royalties as a percentage of  revenue are higher than the Company’s expectation 
of  10 percent of  revenue for 2010 due largely to higher royalties on properties acquired in the year. The Company  
expects, based on forecast oil and natural gas prices, that royalties will average approximately 12 to 14 percent  
of  revenue in 2011.

transportation expense

THREE MONTHS ENDED 
DECEMBER 31

YEAR ENDED 
DECEMBER 31

($000’s) 2010 2009 2010 2009
Transportation ($)  $ 1,551  $ 781  $ 4,357  $ 1,575
Per Unit of  Production ($/boe)  $ 2.25  $ 4.07  $ 2.68  $ 2.65

Transportation costs for the year ended December 31, 2010 were $2.68 per boe, relatively consistent with the comparative 
period in 2009. In the fourth quarter of  2010, transportation costs decreased to $2.25 per boe from $4.07 per boe in the 
comparative period in 2009. Beginning in the fourth quarter of  2009, approximately 2,800 Mcf/d of  natural gas is being 
shipped	on	the	Alliance	pipeline	at	a	cost	of 	$1.50	per	Mcf 	for	sale	at	Chicago.	This	contract	had	a	less	significant	effect	
on transportation costs per boe in the fourth quarter of  2010 compared to 2009 as the production base of  the Company 
has grown by 258 percent in the fourth quarter of  2010 as compared to the fourth quarter of  2009. Transportation costs 
per boe are in line with Cequence’s expectation of  $2.50 per boe for 2010. Cequence expects transportation to average 
approximately $2.00 to $2.50 per boe in 2011.

operating costs

THREE MONTHS ENDED 
DECEMBER 31

YEAR ENDED 
DECEMBER 31

($000’s) 2010 2009 2010 2009
Operating Costs ($)  $ 7,023  $ 2,702  $ 17,700  $ 9,809
Per Unit of  Production ($/boe)  $ 10.20  $ 14.06  $ 10.90  $ 16.52
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For the year ended December 31, 2010, operating costs decreased to $10.90 per boe from $16.52 in the comparative 
period in 2009. Operating costs during the fourth quarter of  2010 were $7,023 or $10.20 per boe compared to $2,702 or  
$14.06 per boe for the same time period in 2009. Operating costs decreased in the three and twelve months ended 
December 31, 2010 compared to the same periods in 2009 due mainly to lower costs on new wells drilled and recompleted 
in the year and on wells acquired through acquisitions. Operating costs for the year ended December 31, 2010 are in line 
with Cequence’s expectation of  approximately $11 to $13 per boe. Operating costs for the three months ended December 
31, 2010 are in line with Cequence’s expectation of  $9 to $11 per boe. Cequence expects operating costs to continue to 
decrease to average $9 to $10 per boe in 2011.

operating netbacks

THREE MONTHS ENDED 
DECEMBER 31

YEAR ENDED 
DECEMBER 31

2010 2009 2010 2009
Production revenue, including realized 
hedge gains (losses)  $ 32.46  $ 46.05  $ 33.59  $ 47.12

Royalty expense (3.80) (4.21) (3.55) (5.33)
Transportation Expense (2.25) (4.07) (2.68) (2.65)
Operating Costs (10.20) (14.06) (10.90) (16.52)
Netback ($/boe)  $ 16.21  $ 23.71  $ 16.46  $ 22.62
Netback, excluding realized hedge gains 
(losses) ($/boe)  $ 13.86  $ 13.44  $ 14.03  $ 6.93

Cequence’s netback for the fourth quarter of  2010 decreased to $16.21 per boe from $23.71 per boe in 2009. For 
the year ended December 31, 2010 the netback decreased to $16.46 per boe from $22.62 per boe in the comparative 
period of  2009. In comparison to 2009, the decrease in the netback in the three and twelve month periods is primarily 
due to a lower realized sales price resulting from the expiry of  the Company’s 6,000 gj per day commodity contract at  
March 31, 2010, offset by improvements to royalty expenses and operating costs. 

Prior to hedging, Cequence’s netbacks increased in both the three and twelve month periods ended December 31, 2010 
due to an improvement in royalty expenses and operating costs offset by lower sales prices.

general and administrative expenses

($000’s)
THREE MONTHS ENDED 

DECEMBER 31
YEAR ENDED 
DECEMBER 31

2010 2009 2010 2009
G&A Expenses ($)  $ 2,224  $ 1,125  $ 5,544  $ 4,667
Total G&A ($/boe)  $ 3.23  $ 5.85  $ 3.41  $ 7.86

For the year ended December 31, 2010 general and administrative (“G&A”) expenses increased to $5,544 from $4,667 
in 2009. On a per barrel basis, G&A expenses decreased for the year ended December 31, 2010 compared to 2009 to  
$3.41 per boe from $7.86 per boe, respectively, as the production base of  the Company has increased from the prior year. 
The reorganization of  the Company in August 2009 led to a reduction in overall G&A expenses.

G&A expenses were $2,224 or $3.23 per boe for the three months ended December 31, 2010. On a per barrel basis, G&A 
expenses decreased 45 percent from the same period in 2009 as a result of  increased sales volumes. G&A expenses for 
the year ended December 31, 2010 are in line with Cequence’s expectation of  approximately $3.00 to $3.75 per boe. The 
Company expects G&A expenses to be $2.00 – $2.25 per boe in 2011.

reorganization expenses
The year ended December 31, 2009 includes all of  the costs of  the reorganization transaction completed on  
July 30, 2009. These one-time costs related primarily to the legal, investment banking and severance costs incurred to 
restructure the Company and totaled $3,295.
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interest expense

THREE MONTHS ENDED 
DECEMBER 31

YEAR ENDED 
DECEMBER 31

($000’s) 2010 2009 2010 2009
Interest Expense ($)  $ 741  $ 168  $ 1,346  $ 1,360
Transaction Costs ($) - - 635 45
Total Interest Expense ($)  741  $ 168  1,981  1,405
Per Unit of  Production ($/boe)  $ 1.08  $ 0.87  $ 1.22  $ 2.37

Interest expense for the three months ended December 31, 2010 was $741 compared to $168 for the comparative period 
in 2009. For the year ended December 31, 2010 interest expense was $1,981 compared to $1,405 in 2009. Included in 
interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2010 is $635 of  transaction costs related to the establishment and 
renewal of  the Company’s credit facilities. 

Interest expense net of  the transaction costs described above was $1,346 for the year ended December 31, 2010, consistent 
with the comparative period in 2009. As part of  the reorganization of  Sabretooth, the Company repaid all of  its outstanding 
current debt. The Company’s debt did not increase to current levels until late in the third quarter of  2010, as debt was 
assumed on the acquisition of  Temple and used in part to pay the cash consideration for the Deep Basin Assets. This 
resulted in interest expense increasing in the quarter ended December 31, 2010 as compared to the same period in 2009.

depletion, depreciation and amortization (“dd&a”)

THREE MONTHS ENDED 
DECEMBER 31

YEAR ENDED 
DECEMBER 31

($000’s) 2010 2009 2010 2009
Depletion expense ($)  $ 12,623  $ 4,370  $ 32,432  $ 14,349
Per Unit of  Production ($/boe)  $ 18.33  $ 22.74  $ 19.96  $ 24.16

DD&A expense for the three months ended December 31, 2010 was $12,623 or $18.33 per boe. For the year ended 
December 31, 2010, DD&A was $32,432 or $19.96 per boe. DD&A rates are lower than in the comparable periods in 
2009 due mainly to drilling in the period and the acquisitions of  Peloton, Temple and the Deep Basin Assets, which were 
completed at a lower cost per boe than Cequence’s existing resource base.

asset retirement obligations
Total asset retirement obligations at December 31, 2010 were $14,622 compared to $4,059 at December 31, 2009. 
Net additions to asset retirement obligations in the year ended December 31, 2010 totalled $10,563 which relates to 
liabilities assumed on the acquisitions of  Peloton, Temple and the Deep Basin Assets, liabilities sold on the sale of  the 
Sinclair properties as well as to drilling activity, facility additions and changes in estimates. During the three and twelve 
month periods ended December 31, 2010, the Company recorded accretion expense of  $285 and $585, respectively  
(2009 – $74 and $207, respectively).

stock-based compensation
The Company recognizes stock-based compensation expense for stock options and performance warrants. For the three 
months ended December 31, 2010, Cequence recorded $2,031 (2009 – $132) in stock-based compensation expense related 
to stock options, with a corresponding increase to contributed surplus. For year ended December 31, 2010, stock-based 
compensation expense related to stock options was $2,721 compared to $192 for the same period in 2009.

The Company issued 10,958 options in the year ended December 31, 2010. Total stock-based compensation expense of  
$9,381 was determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and will be expensed over the four year vesting period 
of 	the	options	granted	in	the	first	six	months	of 	2010.	Options	issued	in	the	second	half 	of 	2010	will	be	expensed	over	
their three year vesting period. During the year, 880 options were cancelled and 1,204 options were forfeited. 
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As	part	of 	the	reorganization	of 	Sabretooth,	certain	officers	and	directors	of 	the	Company	were	awarded	a	total	of 	 
5,200 performance warrants that were exercisable into a non-voting share of  Cequence at a price of  $1.88. At the time the 
performance warrants were negotiated, the market price of  the Company’s shares was $1.48. The performance warrants 
were	divided	into	three	equal	tranches	with	the	first	one-third	having	had	a	four	year	term	and	vested	once	the	20	day	
weighted average share price of  Cequence exceeded $3.20. The second tranche had a 4.5 year term and vested if  the  
20	day	weighted	average	share	price	of 	Cequence	exceeded	$4.40.	The	final	third	of 	the	performance	warrants	had	a	five	
year term and vested if  the 20 day weighted average share price of  Cequence exceeded $5.60. The performance warrants 
were convertible to non-voting shares of  Cequence.

During the year ended December 31, 2010 these warrants were cancelled as part of  the acquisition of  Temple and any 
unrecognized stock based compensation expense was recognized in income. The cost to cancel the warrants of  $451 was 
recognized as a transaction cost and capitalized as part of  the acquisition of  Temple.

The Company recognized $142 of  stock based compensation for the performance warrants in the year ended  
December 31, 2010 (December 31, 2009 – $520).

common shares outstanding

ISSUED COMMON VOTING SHARES (000’s) NUMBER
STATED 

VALUE
Balance, December 31, 2009 39,530  $ 267,908
Future	income	tax	on	renouncing	expenditures	for	flow-through	shares - (512)
Corporate acquisitions - Peloton 12,059 30,269
Flow-through share private placement 4,070 10,001
Subscription receipts 21,045 44,195
Corporate acquisition – Temple 46,846 106,809
Common share private placement 2,950 6,195
Flow-through share private placement 2,250 4,500
Share issue costs, net of  taxes of  $1,178 - (3,402)
Balance, December 31, 2010 128,750  $ 465,963

Warrants, December 31, 2009 - -
Flow-through warrant private placement 4,500 -
Warrants, December 31, 2010 4,500  $ -

As part of  the reorganization transactions in the third quarter of  2009, the Company consolidated its common voting 
shares on a four for one basis. All historical amounts have been restated.

On	October	26,	2009,	the	Company	issued	500	common	shares	on	a	CDE	“flow-through”	basis	for	total	proceeds	
of  $2,025. In accordance with the terms of  the agreement and pursuant to certain provisions of  the Income Tax Act 
(Canada), the Company renounced, for income tax purposes, development expenditures of  $2,025 to the holders of  the 
flow-through	common	shares	effective	December	31,	2009.	Future	tax	of 	approximately	$512	associated	with	renouncing	
the	expenditures	was	recorded	on	the	date	of 	renunciation	in	the	first	quarter	of 	2010.	As	at	December	31,	2009,	the	
Company had incurred all of  the qualifying expenditures.

On June 11, 2010, the Company completed the acquisition of  Peloton and issued 12,059 common voting shares with a 
deemed value of  $2.51 per share for total deemed consideration of  $30,269.

On	August	19,	2010,	the	Company	completed	the	sale	of 	3,200	common	voting	shares	on	a	CEE	“flow-through”	private	
placement	basis	at	$2.50	per	share	for	proceeds	of 	$8,000	as	well	as	870	common	voting	shares	on	a	CDE	“flow-through”	
private placement basis at $2.30 per share for proceeds of  $2,001, resulting in a total issuance of  4,070 common voting 
shares for total proceeds of  $10,001. As at December 31, 2010, the Company has incurred all of  the qualifying CDE 
expenditures and approximately $5,190 of  the qualifying CEE expenditures.

On August 19, 2010, the Company completed the sale of  18,545 subscription receipts at a price of  $2.10 per subscription 
receipt for total proceeds of  $38,945. The subscription receipts were convertible to Cequence common voting shares without 
further consideration upon the closing of  the Deep Basin Assets acquisition (see ‘Overview’). Upon closing of  the Deep Basin 
Assets acquisition on September 8, 2010, the subscription receipts were converted on a one for one basis, for no additional 
consideration and without further action, into common voting shares of  the Company. On September 17, 2010, Cequence 
completed the sale of  2,500 common voting shares related to an over-allotment option on the subscription receipts offering 
discussed above at $2.10 per share for total proceeds of  $5,250.
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On September 10, 2010, the Company completed the acquisition of  Temple and issued 46,846 common voting shares 
with a deemed value of  $2.28 per share for total deemed consideration of  $106,809.

On September 10, 2010, Cequence completed the sale of  2,950 common voting shares through a private placement 
to a major shareholder as well as certain management and directors of  the Company at $2.10 per share for total  
proceeds of  $6,195.

On November 30, 2010, the Company completed the sale, on a private placement basis, of  2,250 units at a price of   
$2.00 per unit for total proceeds of  $4,500. Each unit entitles the holder to:

•	 one	common	voting	share	on	a	CDE	“flow-through”	basis;	
•	 one	warrant	to	purchase	one	common	voting	share	on	a	CDE	“flow-through”	basis	at	any	time	on	or	after	August	1,	2011 

and prior to August 15, 2011 at a price set as a 10 percent premium to the 10 day volume weighted average trading 
price	of 	the	Company’s	shares	on	the	TSX	for	the	period	July	18,	2011	to	July	29,	2011	(the	“2011	Warrants”);	and	

•	 one	warrant	to	purchase	one	common	voting	share	on	a	CDE	“flow-through”	basis	at	any	time	on	or	after	August	1,	2012 
and prior to August 15, 2012 at a price set as a 10 percent premium to the 10 day volume weighted average trading 
price	of 	the	Company’s	shares	on	the	TSX	for	the	period	July	18,	2012	to	July	31,	2012	(the	“2012	Warrants).	

The purchaser has unconditionally committed to exercise the 2011 Warrants prior to August 15, 2011 and Cequence 
has exercised the option to hold 1,500 of  the shares initially issued in escrow until such time as the 2011 Warrants are 
exercised. If  the 2011 Warrants are not exercised, the shares held in escrow shall be cancellable at no cost to Cequence 
and no redress to the shareholder. The 2012 Warrants are conditional on the exercise of  the 2011 Warrants and if  the 2011 
Warrants are not exercised in accordance with their terms, the 2012 Warrants become null and void. No value has been 
attributed to the 2011 Warrants or 2012 Warrants as they are issuable at the prevailing value of  the stock at the time of  
issuance. As at December 31, 2010, the Company has incurred approximately $3,000 of  the qualifying CDE expenditures.

As at December 31, 2010 there were no issued or outstanding non-voting shares (December 31, 2009 – none).

As of  the date of  this MD&A, Cequence had the following securities outstanding: 128,750 common voting shares,  
9,643	stock	options,	2,250	CDE	flow-through	2011	Warrants	and	2,250	CDE	flow-through	2012	Warrants.	See	‘Subsequent	
Events’ section above for discussion of  issuances subsequent to the date of  this MD&A.

capital expenditures 

THREE MONTHS ENDED 
DECEMBER 31

YEAR ENDED 
DECEMBER 31

($000’s) 2010 2009 2010 2009
Property Acquisitions  $ (182)  $ 5,994  $ 84,868  $ 21,757
Property Dispositions (4,525) - (41,571) -
Corporate Acquisitions (1) 400 380 3,483 38
Land, net 2,876 969 6,217 1,580
Geological & geophysical and  
capitalized overhead 1,515 1,503 3,528 2,715

Drilling, completions and workovers 17,543 13,671 46,599 19,062
Equipment and facilities 2,432 319 7,731 1,415
Office	furniture	&	equipment 26 64 45 64
Total capital expenditures  $ 20,085  $ 22,900  $ 110,900  $ 46,631

(1)  Corporate acquisitions for the year ended December 31, 2010 do not include $169,826 in non-cash items related to the acquisitions 
of  Peloton and Temple.

For the year ended December 31, 2010, drilling, completion and workover expenditures totalled $46,599 which included  
5.6 net horizontal wells and 3.8 net vertical wells. For the year ended December 31, 2009, drilling, completion and workover 
expenditures were limited to the drilling of  three net horizontal wells and two net vertical wells.

Cequence’s capital expenditures for 2010 are in line with budgeted expenditures of  $115,000. Cequence has budgeted 
capital expenditures of  $55,000 for 2011, which will be directed towards the drilling of  an expected 12 wells. Capital 
expenditures	will	be	funded	out	of 	cash	flow	and	existing	credit	lines.
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income taxes
At December 31, 2010, a future income tax asset of  $26,441 (December 31, 2009 – $5,575) has been recognized as 
the	Company	believes,	based	on	estimated	cash	flows,	it	is	more	likely	than	not	to	be	realized.	At	December	31,	2010,	
Cequence has the following tax pools:

Classification
AMOUNT 

($000’s)
CEE  $ 167,332
Non-capital losses 96,498
COGPE 82,526
UCC 78,890
CDE 54,469
SRED 22,704
Share issue costs 6,786
ITCs 3,981
Other 799

 $ 513,985

The Company’s non-capital losses expire $7,721 in 2013, $5,919 in 2014 and $82,859 in 2016 and thereafter.

Based	on	the	Company’s	expected	cash	flow	and	available	tax	pools,	Cequence	does	not	expect	to	be	taxable	in	2011.

investments
As	at	December	31,	2009,	the	Company	held	long-term	floating	rate	notes	(“MAV	2”	notes)	issued	as	a	result	of 	the	
restructuring discussed below. At December 31, 2008, the Company held the original Canadian asset-backed commercial 
paper (“ABCP”) with an original cost of  $24,147. These investments matured during the third quarter of  2007 but, as a 
result of  the liquidity issues in the ABCP market, did not settle on maturity. 

On January 21, 2009, the Pan-Canadian Investors Committee announced that the restructuring had been completed 
to extend the maturity of  the ABCP to provide for a maturity similar to that of  the underlying assets. As a result, the 
Company received new replacement MAV 2 notes with a total face value of  $24,142.

On August 25, 2010, the Company completed the sale of  its entire interest in MAV 2 notes for net proceeds of  $13,453 
(net of  transaction costs of  $96) which represents approximately $0.68 per $1.00 of  face value for the Class A1 notes, 
$0.58 per $1.00 of  face value for the Class A2 notes, $0.33 per $1.00 of  face value for the Class B notes and $0.05 per 
$1.00 of  face value for the Class C notes. This has resulted in a loss on MAV 2 notes recognized in income of  $281 for 
the year ended December 31, 2010.

liquidity and capital resources
As	at	December	31,	2009,	the	Company	had	established	two	credit	facilities	with	a	Canadian	chartered	bank;	a	$40,000	
revolving operating demand loan and a $5,000 non-revolving acquisition/development demand loan. During the year 
ended December 31, 2010, the Company repaid all amounts owing and terminated the facilities.

During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company established two credit facilities with a syndicate of  Canadian 
chartered banks. Credit facility A is a $100,000 extendible revolving term credit facility by way of  prime loans, U.S. Base 
Rate Loans, Banker’s Acceptances and Libor Loans. Credit facility B is a $10,000 operating facility by way of  prime loans, 
U.S. Base Rate Loans, Banker’s Acceptances and letters of  credit. Prime loans and U.S. Base Rate Loans on these facilities 
bear interest at the bank prime rate or U.S. Base Rate, respectively, plus 1.25 percent to 2.75 percent on a sliding scale, 
depending on the Company’s debt to adjusted EBITDA ratio (ranging from being less than or equal to 1.0:1.0 to greater 
than 2.5:1.0). Banker’s Acceptances, Libor Loans and letters of  credit on these facilities bear interest at the Banker’s 
Acceptance rate, Libor rate or letter of  credit rate, as applicable, plus 2.25 percent to 3.75 percent based on the same 
sliding scale as above. The credit facilities may be extended and revolve beyond the initial one-year period, if  requested 
by the Company and accepted by the lenders. If  the credit facilities do not continue to revolve, the facilities will convert 
to a 366-day non-revolving term loan facility.
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Both credit facilities, and the amount available for draws under the facilities, are subject to periodic review by the bank 
and	are	secured	by	a	general	assignment	of 	book	debts	and	a	$250,000	demand	debenture	with	a	first	floating	charge	
over all assets of  the Company. The Company is permitted to hedge up to 67 percent of  its production under the lending 
agreement. As at December 31, 2010, the Company has drawn $57,125 under the extendible revolving term credit facility 
and $nil under the operating facility (December 31, 2009 – $nil drawn under demand credit facilities) and is in compliance 
with all covenants. The next scheduled review is to take place in May 2011.

Included in interest expense in the consolidated statement of  operations is $555 of  transaction costs related to the 
Company’s credit facilities established in the year ended December 31, 2010.

On March 31, 2009, the Company’s bank provided the Company with an additional credit facility to provide liquidity 
in respect to the MAV 2 notes. All proceeds from the sale of  MAV 2 notes were used to repay this facility. The balance 
of  the facility was paid with available cash and the long-term debt related to investments facility was closed. The 
effective interest rate for the year ended December 31, 2010 was 1.19 percent. Interest expense on long-term debt 
related to investments included as interest expense in the consolidated statement of  operations for the year ended  
December 31, 2010 was $129 ($153 for the year ended December 31, 2009).

contractual obligations 

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015+ Total
Office	leases  $ 782 552 482 482 281  $ 2,579
Pipeline transportation 1,684 1,684 1,684 1,684 1,541 8,277
Drilling services  
commitment 177 1,500 - - - 1,677

Total  $ 2,643 3,736 2,166 2,166 1,822  $ 12,533

The Company acquired a pipeline transportation contract in a property acquisition that expires on November 30, 2015. 

The Company has a commitment to use the drilling and related services of  the Claimant of  a lawsuit settled in the 
first	quarter	of 	2010,	at	fair	market	value,	in	the	amount	of 	$3,000	over	the	two	years	following	the	date	of 	settlement.	
Cequence is obligated to spend a minimum of  $1,500 in each of  the two years following the date of  settlement to avoid 
any penalties under the commitment. Cequence has incurred $1,323 as at December 31, 2010.

related parties
An executive of  the Company is a member of  the board of  directors of  an entity that is a supplier of  seismic services 
to Cequence. The Company incurred a total of  $11 with this vendor in the year ended December 31, 2010. These 
transactions have been recorded at the exchange amount, which is the amount of  consideration established and agreed to 
by the related parties, and is equal to fair value. As at December 31, 2010, $5 is included in accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities related to these transactions.

disclosure controls and internal controls over financial reporting 
The	President	and	Chief 	Executive	Officer	and	the	Vice	President,	Finance	and	Chief 	Financial	Officer	are	responsible	
for	designing	internal	controls	over	financial	reporting	or	causing	them	to	be	designed	under	their	supervision	in	order	
to	provide	reasonable	assurance	regarding	the	reliability	of 	financial	reporting	and	the	preparation	of 	financial	statements	
for	external	purposes	in	accordance	with	Canadian	GAAP.	The	Company’s	Chief 	Executive	Officer	and	Chief 	Financial	
Officer	have	designed,	or	caused	to	be	designed	under	their	supervision,	disclosure	controls	and	procedures	to	provide	
reasonable assurance that: (i) material information relating to the Company is made known to the Company’s Chief  
Executive	Officer	and	Chief 	Financial	Officer	by	others,	particularly	during	the	period	in	which	the	annual	filings	are	
being	prepared;	and	(ii)	information	required	to	be	disclosed	by	the	Company	in	its	annual	filings,	interim	filings	or	other	
reports	filed	or	submitted	by	it	under	securities	legislation	is	recorded,	processed,	summarized	and	reported	within	the	
time	period	specified	in	securities	legislation.

The Committee of  Sponsoring Organizations (“COSO”) framework provides the basis for management’s design of  
internal	controls	over	financial	reporting.	Management	and	the	Board	work	to	mitigate	the	risk	of 	a	material	misstatement	
in	financial	reporting;	however,	a	control	system,	no	matter	how	well	conceived	or	operated,	can	provide	only	reasonable,	
not absolute, assurance that the objectives of  the control system are met and it should not be expected that the disclosure 
and internal control procedures will prevent all errors or fraud.
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As	at	December	31,	2010,	the	Chief 	Executive	Officer	and	the	Chief 	Financial	Officer	have	concluded,	based	on	their	
evaluation of  the design and operating effectiveness of  the Company’s disclosure controls and internal controls over 
financial	reporting	(“ICFR”)	that	disclosure	controls	and	ICFR	are	effective.

quarterly information

financial   

2010 2010 2010 2010 2009 2009 2009 2009
($ thousands except 
per share data) Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1

Production Revenues  
including realized gains 
(losses)	on	financial	 
commodity contracts

$ 22,352 $ 12,951 $ 9,174 $ 10,093 $ 8,847 $ 5,962 $ 6,548 $ 6,627

Royalties 2,616 1,340 699 1,114 809 1,170 385 800
Operating expenses 7,023 4,410 3,392 2,875 2,702 2,609 2,212 2,286
Transportation expenses 1,551 1,223 840 744 781 309 238 247
Reorganization expenses - - - - - 3,295 - -
Net income (loss) (6,122) (3,620) (3,751) (1,025) (2,656) (6,994) (2,444) 3,440
Per share – basic (0.05) (0.05) (0.09) (0.03) (0.07) (0.26) (0.25) 0.36
Per share – diluted (0.05) (0.05) (0.09) (0.03) (0.07) (0.26) (0.25) 0.36
Funds	flow	 8,029 3,695 2,842 4,498 3,161 (2,663) 1,517 1,913
Per share – basic 0.06 0.05 0.07 0.11 0.08 (0.10) 0.16 0.20
Per share – diluted 0.06 0.05 0.07 0.11 0.08 (0.10) 0.16 0.20
Capital expenditures, net 24,392 8,309 5,007 26,412 16,526 3,334 209 4,767
Acquisitions, net (1) (4,307) 50,112 695 279 6,374 15,421 - -
Total expenditures $ 20,085 $ 58,421 $ 5,702 $ 26,691 $ 22,900 $ 18,755 $ 209 $ 4,767

(1) Acquisitions for the three months ended December 31, 2010 do not include $1,044 in non-cash costs related to the acquisition  
of  Temple.

operations 
2010 2010 2010 2010 2009 2009 2009 2009

($ thousands except 
per share data) Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1

PRODUCTION 
VOLUMES
Natural gas (Mcf/d) 38,702 23,674 16,559 12,592 10,696 6,734 8,077 8,164
Oil (bbls/d) 478 332 253 268 230 128 106 140
NGLs (bbls/d) 557 342 184 78 76 67 96 104
Total (boe/d) 7,485 4,619 3,197 2,444 2,089 1,317 1,548 1,602
AVERAGE  
SELLING PRICE
Natural gas ($per Mcf) 4.40 4.13 4.21 6.83 6.97 7.69 7.50 7.71
Oil ($per bbl) 77.24 70.47 70.22 76.80 71.65 66.85 68.00 50.26
NGLs ($per bbl) 64.13 57.33 72.07 71.81 68.82 66.76 52.12 35.28
Combined ($per boe) 32.46 30.47 31.53 45.88 46.05 49.20 47.00 45.97
Royalties ($per boe) 3.80 3.15 2.40 5.06 4.21 9.66 2.76 5.55
Operating expenses  
($per boe) 10.20 10.38 11.66 13.07 14.06 21.53 15.88 15.86

Transportation ($per boe) 2.25 2.88 2.88 3.38 4.07 2.55 1.71 1.71
Netback ($per boe) 16.21 14.06 14.59 24.37 23.71 15.46 26.65 22.85
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future accounting pronouncements
The Company has assessed new and revised accounting pronouncements that have been issued that are not yet effective 
and determined that the following may have an impact on the Company:

i) international financial reporting standards

On January 1, 2011 International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) will become the generally accepted accounting 
principles in Canada. The adoption date of  January 1, 2011 will require the restatement, for comparative purposes, 
of  amounts reported by Cequence for the year ended December 31, 2010, including the opening balance sheet as at 
January 1, 2010. Throughout 2009 and 2010 the Company has assessed the impact of  adopting IFRS and is continuing 
to implement plans for transition. The project is being managed by in-house accounting professionals who have engaged 
in IFRS educational programs and continue to develop the Company’s adoption to IFRS. The Company’s auditors have 
been involved throughout the process to ensure the Company’s policies are in accordance with these new standards.

In July 2009 an amendment to IFRS 1 First Time Adoption of  International Financial Reporting Standards was issued that 
applies to oil and gas assets. The amendment allows an entity that used full cost accounting under its previous GAAP to 
elect, at its time of  adoption, to measure exploration and evaluation assets at the amount determined under the entity’s 
previous GAAP and to measure oil and gas assets in the development and production phases by allocating the amount 
determined under the entity’s previous GAAP for those assets to the underlying assets pro rata using reserve volumes 
or reserve values as of  that date. Cequence currently anticipates that it will use this exemption. IFRS 1 also provides 
a number of  other optional exemptions and mandatory exceptions in certain areas to the general requirement for full 
retrospective application. Management has analyzed the various accounting policy choices available and has implemented 
those determined to be the most appropriate for the Company which other than the full cost accounting exemption 
noted above are:

Business Combinations – IFRS 1 would allow Cequence to use the IFRS rules for business combinations on a prospective 
basis rather than re-stating all business combinations prior to the transition date.

Borrowing Costs – IFRS 1 would allow Cequence to apply the transitional provisions of  IAS 23 in lieu of  full 
retrospective application.

Share-based payments – IFRS 1 would allow Cequence an exemption on IFRS 2, “Share-Based Payments” to equity 
instruments which vested before Cequence’s transition date to IFRS.

Decommissioning Liabilities – IFRS 1 would allow Cequence to measure decommissioning liabilities as at the transition 
date in accordance with IAS 37, “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets” and recognize directly 
in	deficit	the	difference	between	that	amount	and	the	carrying	amount	of 	those	liabilities	at	the	date	of 	transition	
determined under Canadian GAAP.

Cequence currently plans to use these exemptions.

The	transition	from	Canadian	GAAP	to	IFRS	is	significant	and	may	materially	affect	our	reported	financial	position	
and	results	of 	operations.	At	this	time,	Cequence	has	identified	key	differences	that	will	impact	the	financial	statements:

•	 Exploration and Evaluation (“E&E”) expenditures – On transition to IFRS Cequence will re-classify all E&E 
expenditures that are currently included in the PP&E balance on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. Based on 
Cequence’s anticipated policy related to IFRS 6 “Exploration for and Evaluation of  Mineral Resources” (“IFRS 
6”), the Company expects to recognize approximately $29,400 of  E&E assets at the date of  transition. Any 
E&E assets subsequently recognized will not be depleted and must be assessed for impairment when indicators  
of  impairment exist.

•	 Property and equipment – This includes oil and gas assets in the development and production phases and Cequence 
currently expects that the entire full cost pool, less amounts allocated to E&E assets, will be allocated to property 
and equipment on transition to IFRS. The Company has allocated the amount recognized under current Canadian 
GAAP as at January 1, 2010 using discounted proved plus probable reserve values to the assets at an area level. 
Cequence is evaluating the outcome of  each calculation.

•	 Depletion expense – On transition to IFRS Cequence has the option to base the depletion calculation on either proved 
reserves or proved plus probable reserves. Cequence expects to base the depletion calculation on proved plus 
probable reserves. Cequence currently expects that this will result in a reduction to depletion expense for the year 
ended December 31, 2010 under IFRS as compared to the amount recognized under Canadian GAAP.
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•	 Impairment of  PP&E assets	–	Under	IFRS,	impairment	tests	of 	PP&E	must	be	performed	on	specific	portions	of 	
PP&E as opposed to the entire PP&E balance which is currently required under Canadian GAAP through the 
full cost ceiling test. Impairment calculations will be performed at the cash generating unit level using proved 
plus probable reserves. Cequence has determined its cash generating units for the purpose of  impairment testing 
and anticipates using proved plus probable values for impairment tests. Cequence currently expects to recognize 
an impairment on opening PP&E values though the amount of  such impairment is not currently determinable as 
Cequence continues to evaluate the discount rate used in performing the impairment test.

•	 Provisions – The major difference between the current Canadian GAAP standard and IFRS, as it affects Cequence, 
relates to the discount rate used to measure the Company’s decommissioning liabilities. Under current Canadian 
GAAP a credit-adjusted risk-free rate is used, whereas the IFRS standard indicates the use of  a risk-free rate. A 
lower discount rate will increase the decommissioning liability on the date of  transition and the difference will be 
charged	to	deficit.	Cequence	currently	expects	decommissioning	liabilities	to	increase	by	approximately	$3,300	on	
transition	to	IFRS	with	a	commensurate	increase	to	deficit.	

•	 Flow-through shares –	Under	Canadian	GAAP,	the	proceeds	from	the	issuance	of 	flow-through	shares	are	recognized	
as	shareholders’	equity.	Further,	the	tax	basis	of 	assets	related	to	expenditures	incurred	to	satisfy	flow-through	share	
obligations is not reduced until the renunciation of  the related tax pools at which time, the expected tax effect of  
the renunciation has the effect of  increasing future income tax liability and reducing shareholders’ equity. 

Under	IFRS,	the	difference	between	the	value	of 	a	flow-through	share	issuance	and	the	value	of 	a	common	share	
issuance	is	initially	accrued	as	an	obligation	on	issuance	of 	the	flow-through	shares.	Pursuant	to	the	terms	of 	the	
flow-through	share	agreements,	the	tax	deductions	associated	with	the	expenditures	are	renounced	to	the	subscribers.	
Accordingly, on renunciation with the Canada Revenue Agency, a future tax liability is recorded equal to the 
estimated amount of  future income taxes payable by the Company. As a result of  the renunciations, the obligation 
on	issuance	of 	flow-through	shares	is	reduced	and	the	difference	is	recognized	in	net	income	(loss).	Cequence	
currently expects that the above will result in an increase to share capital of  approximately $1,300, an increase to 
deficit	of 	approximately	$1,700	and	the	recognition	of 	an	obligation	on	flow-through	shares	not	yet	renounced	at	
the date of  transition of  approximately $400. 

•	 Share based payments – The Company has evaluated its share based payment awards and has determined that they 
are	in	compliance	with	IFRS.	As	such,	no	significant	changes	are	expected	related	to	share	based	payments	on	 
transition to IFRS.

Cequence continues to evaluate the amount of  the above adjustments and the amounts are subject to change prior to 
adoption of  IFRS.

In addition to the accounting policy differences above, Cequence’s transition to IFRS will impact the internal controls 
over	financial	reporting,	the	disclosure	controls	and	procedures	and	information	technology	systems	as	follows:

	 Internal	controls	over	financial	reporting	– As the review and analysis of  Cequence’s accounting policies under IFRS has 
been	completed,	an	assessment	has	been	made	to	determine	the	changes	required	to	internal	controls	over	financial	
reporting. This process has ensured that changes in accounting policies include the appropriate additional controls 
and procedures for future IFRS reporting requirements. Such process will be ongoing through 2011 to ensure any 
further changes or amendments to IFRS are properly addressed through the Company’s internal controls over 
financial	reporting.

 Disclosure controls and procedures – Throughout the transition process, Cequence has assessed stakeholders’ information 
requirements and will ensure that adequate and timely information is provided while ensuring the Company maintains 
its due process regarding information that is disclosed. 

 Information Technology systems – The Company has assessed the readiness of  its accounting software and continues to 
assess other system requirements that may be needed in order to perform ongoing calculations and analysis under 
IFRS.	These	changes	are	not	considered	to	be	significant.

Management	is	continuing	to	finalize	its	accounting	policies	and	choices	and	is	continuing	with	its	due	process	in	regards	
to	information	that	is	disclosed.	As	such,	the	Company	is	currently	unable	to	quantify	the	full	impact	on	the	financial	
statements of  adopting IFRS, however, the Company has disclosed certain expectations above based on information known 
to date. Due to anticipated changes to IFRS and International Accounting Standards prior to Cequence’s adoption of  IFRS, 
certain items may be subject to change based on new facts and circumstances that arise after the date of  this MD&A.
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application of critical accounting estimates
The	significant	accounting	policies	used	by	Cequence	are	disclosed	in	note	3	to	the	Annual	Consolidated	Financial	
Statements. Certain accounting policies require that management make appropriate decisions with respect to the 
formulation of  estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of  assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. 
Management reviews its estimates on a regular basis. The emergence of  new information and changed circumstance 
may result in actual results or changes to estimate amounts that differ materially from current estimates. The following 
discussion	identifies	the	critical	accounting	policies	and	practices	of 	the	Company	and	helps	assess	the	likelihood	of 	
materially different results being reported.

reserves
Oil and gas reserves are estimates made using all available geological and reservoir data, as well as historical production 
data.	All	of 	the	Company’s	reserves	were	evaluated	and	reported	on	by	an	independent	qualified	reserves	evaluator.	
However, revisions can occur as a result of  various factors including: actual reservoir performance, change in price and 
cost	forecasts	or	a	change	in	the	Company’s	plans.	Reserve	changes	will	impact	the	financial	results	as	reserves	are	used	
in the calculation of  depletion and are used to assess whether asset impairment occurs. Reserve changes also affect other 
Non-GAAP	measurements	such	as	finding	and	development	costs,	recycle	ratios	and	net	asset	value	calculations.

depletion
The Company follows the full cost method of  accounting for oil and natural gas properties. Under this method, all 
costs related to the acquisition of, exploration for and development of  oil and natural gas reserves are capitalized 
whether successful or not. Depletion of  the capitalized oil and natural gas properties and depreciation of  production 
equipment, which includes estimated future development costs less estimated salvage values, are calculated using the 
unit-of-production method, based on production volumes in relation to estimated proven reserves.

An increase in estimated proved reserves would result in a reduction in depletion expense. A decrease in estimated future 
development costs would also result in a reduction in depletion expense.

unproved properties
The cost of  acquisition and evaluation of  unproved properties are initially excluded from the depletion calculation. 
An impairment test is performed on these assets to determine whether the carrying value exceeds the fair value. Any 
excess in carrying value over fair value is impairment. When proved reserves are assigned or a property is considered 
to be impaired, the cost of  the property or the amount of  the impairment will be added to the capitalized costs for the 
calculation of  depletion.

ceiling test
The ceiling test is a cost recovery test intended to identify and measure potential impairment of  assets. An impairment 
loss	is	recorded	if 	the	sum	of 	the	undiscounted	cash	flows	expected	from	the	production	of 	the	proved	reserves	and	the	
lower of  cost and market price of  unproved properties does not exceed the carrying values of  the petroleum and natural 
gas assets. An impairment loss is recognized to the extent that the carrying value exceeds the sum of  the discounted cash 
flows	expected	from	the	production	of 	proved	and	probable	reserves	and	the	lower	of 	cost	and	market	price	of 	unproved	
properties.	The	cash	flows	are	estimated	using	future	product	prices	and	costs	and	are	discounted	using	the	risk	free	rate.	
By	their	nature,	these	estimates	are	subject	to	measurement	uncertainty	and	the	impact	on	the	financial	statements	could	
be material. Any impairment as a result of  this ceiling test will be charged to the consolidated statement of  operations 
as additional depletion and depreciation expense.
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asset retirement obligations
The Company records a liability for the fair value of  legal obligations associated with the retirement of  petroleum and 
natural gas assets. The liability is equal to the discounted fair value of  the obligation in the period in which the asset is 
recorded with an equal offset to the carrying amount of  the asset. The liability then accretes to its fair value with the 
passage	of 	time	and	the	accretion	is	recognized	as	an	expense	in	the	financial	statements.	The	total	amount	of 	the	asset	
retirement obligation is an estimate based on the Company’s net ownership interest in all wells and facilities, the estimated 
costs to abandon and reclaim the wells and facilities and the estimated timing of  the costs to be incurred in future periods. 
The	total	amount	of 	the	estimated	cash	flows	required	to	settle	the	asset	retirement	obligation,	the	timing	of 	those	cash	
flows	and	the	discount	rate	used	to	calculate	the	present	value	of 	those	cash	flows	are	all	estimates	subject	to	measurement	
uncertainty. Any change in these estimates would impact the asset retirement liability and the accretion expense.

stock based compensation
The Company uses fair value accounting for stock-based compensation. Under this method, all equity instruments awarded 
to employees and the cost of  the service received as considerations are measured and recognized based on the fair value 
of  the equity instruments issued. Compensation expense is recognized over the period of  related employee service, usually 
the vesting period of  the equity instrument awarded.

income taxes
The determination of  income and other tax assets and liabilities requires interpretation of  complex laws and regulations. 
All	tax	filings	are	subject	to	audit	and	potential	reassessment	after	the	lapse	of 	considerable	time.	Accordingly,	the	actual	
income	tax	asset	may	differ	significantly	from	that	estimated	and	recorded	by	management.

The recognition of  a future income tax asset is also based on estimates of  whether the Company is “more likely than 
not” to realize these assets. This estimate, in turn, is based on estimates of  proved and probable reserves, future oil and 
natural gas prices, royalty rates and costs. Changes in these estimates could materially impact net income and the future 
income tax asset recognized.

acquisitions
The value assigned to common shares issued to acquire the remaining shares of  HFG, the shares of  Peloton and the 
shares of  Temple and the allocation of  the purchase price to the net assets acquired at the respective acquisition dates 
are based on estimates of  numerous factors affecting valuation including discount rates, proved and probable reserves, 
future petroleum and natural gas prices and other factors.

commodity contracts
The fair value of  commodity contracts and the resultant unrealized gain (loss) on commodity contracts is based on 
estimates of  future natural gas prices.

other estimates
The accrual method of  accounting requires management to incorporate certain estimates including estimates of  revenues, 
royalties,	capital,	drilling	credits	and	operating	costs	as	at	a	specific	reporting	date,	but	for	which	actual	revenues	and	
costs have not yet been received. In addition, estimates are made on capital projects which are in progress or recently 
completed where actual costs have not been received by the reporting date. The Company obtains the estimates from 
the individuals with the most knowledge of  the activity and from all project documentation received. The estimates are 
reviewed for reasonableness and compared to past performance to assess the reliability of  the estimates. Past estimates 
are compared to actual results in order to make informed decisions on future estimates.

financial instruments and risk management
The	Company’s	financial	instruments,	including	derivative	financial	instruments,	recognized	in	the	consolidated	balance	
sheet consist of  cash, accounts receivable, commodity contracts, investments, demand credit facilities, accounts payable 
and accrued liabilities and long-term debt related to investments.
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The fair values of  the Company’s cash, accounts receivable, demand credit facilities, accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
and long-term debt related to investments approximate their carrying values due to their short terms to maturity and the 
floating	interest	rate	on	the	Company’s	debt.	

The Company is engaged in the exploration, development, production and acquisition of  crude oil and natural gas. This 
business is inherently risky and there is no assurance that hydrocarbon reserves will be discovered and economically 
produced.	Financial	risks	associated	with	the	petroleum	industry	include	fluctuations	in	commodity	prices,	interest	rates	
and currency exchange rates along with the credit risk of  the Company’s industry partners. Operational risks include 
reservoir performance uncertainties, the reliance on operators of  our non-operated properties, competition, environmental 
and safety issues, and a complex and changing regulatory environment. 

The primary risks and how the Company mitigates them are as follows: 

commodity price and exchange rate volatility 

Revenues	and	consequently	cash	flows	fluctuate	with	commodity	prices	and	the	U.S.	/	Canadian	dollar	exchange	rate.	
Commodity prices are determined on a global basis and circumstances that occur in various parts of  the world are outside 
of 	the	control	of 	the	Company.	The	Company	protects	itself 	from	fluctuations	in	prices	by	maintaining	an	appropriate	
hedging strategy, diversifying its asset mix and strengthening its balance sheet in order to take advantage of  low price 
environments by making strategic acquisitions. We enter into commodity price contracts to actively manage the risks 
associated	with	price	volatility	and	thereby	protect	our	cash	flows	used	to	fund	our	capital	program.	Net	earnings	for	the	
year ended December 31, 2010 include $3,737 of  realized gains and $2,793 of  unrealized losses on these transactions. 

Cequence	is	also	exposed	to	fluctuations	in	the	exchange	rate	between	the	Canadian	and	U.S.	dollar.	Most	commodity	
prices	are	based	on	U.S.	dollar	benchmarks	that	results	in	our	realized	prices	being	influenced	mainly	by	the	U.S.	/	Canadian	
currency exchange rates. As at December 31, 2010, the Company has a pipeline commitment in U.S. dollars and sells 
certain quantities of  natural gas in the U.S. dollar. There are no other forward contracts, foreign exchange contracts or 
other	significant	items	denominated	in	foreign	currencies.

interest rate risk

The Company is exposed to interest rate risk to the extent that changes in market interest rates impact its borrowings 
under	the	floating	rate	credit	facilities.	The	floating	rate	debt	is	subject	to	interest	rate	cash	flow	risk,	as	the	required	cash	
flows	to	service	the	debt	will	fluctuate	as	a	result	of 	changes	in	market	rates.	The	Company	has	no	interest	rate	swaps	or	
financial	contracts	in	place	as	at	or	during	the	year	ended	December	31,	2010.

Based on debt outstanding at December 31, 2010, a 1 percent change in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, 
would result in a change in net loss of  $572 ($411 after tax). 

credit risk 

Credit	risk	is	the	risk	of 	financial	 loss	to	the	Company	if 	a	counterparty	to	a	financial	 instrument	fails	to	meet	its	
contractual obligation. The company is exposed to credit risk with respect to its accounts receivables, cash and  
commodity contracts.

The majority of  the Company’s accounts receivable are due from joint venture partners in the oil and gas industry 
and from marketers of  the Company’s petroleum and natural gas production. The Company mitigates its credit risk 
by entering into contracts with established counterparties that have strong credit ratings and reviewing its exposure to 
individual counterparties on a regular basis. At December 31, 2010 the Company has an allowance for doubtful accounts  
of  $490 (2009 – $274).

liquidity risk 

Liquidity	risk	is	the	risk	that	the	Company	will	not	be	able	to	meet	its	financial	obligations	as	they	are	due.	The	nature	
of 	the	oil	and	gas	industry	is	capital	intensive	and	the	Company	maintains	and	monitors	a	certain	level	of 	cash	flow	to	
finance	operating	and	capital	expenditures.	The	Company	believes	it	has	sufficient	credit	facilities	to	satisfy	its	financial	
obligations as they come due. 

The Company’s ongoing liquidity is impacted by various external events and conditions, including commodity price 
fluctuations	and	the	global	economic	downturn.
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The	timing	of 	cash	flows	relating	to	financial	liabilities	as	at	December	31,	2010	is	as	follows:

< 1 Year 1 – 2 Years 2 – 5 Years Thereafter
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 36,240 - - -
Demand credit facilities - - 57,125 -

36,240 - 57,125 -

access to capital risk 

The Company anticipates making substantial capital expenditures for the acquisition, exploration, development and 
production of  oil and natural gas reserves in the future. As the Company’s revenues may decline as a result of  decreased 
commodity pricing, it may be required to reduce capital expenditures. In addition, uncertain levels of  near term industry 
activity coupled with the present global credit crisis exposes the Company to additional access to capital risk. There can 
be	no	assurance	that	debt	or	equity	financing,	or	cash	generated	by	operations	will	be	available	or	sufficient	to	meet	these	
requirements	or	for	other	corporate	purposes	or,	if 	debt	or	equity	financing	is	available,	that	it	will	be	on	terms	acceptable	
to	the	Company.	The	inability	of 	the	Company	to	access	sufficient	capital	for	its	operations	could	have	a	material	adverse	
effect	on	the	Company’s	business	financial	condition,	results	of 	operations	and	prospects.	

operational matters 

The ownership and operation of  oil and natural gas wells, pipelines and facilities involves a number of  operating and 
natural hazards which may result in blowouts, environmental damage and other unexpected or dangerous conditions 
resulting in damage to the Company’s natural gas and oil properties and assets, as well as possible liability to third parties. 
The Company may become liable for damages arising from such events against which it cannot insure or against which 
it may elect not to insure because of  high premium costs or other reasons. Costs incurred to repair such damage or pay 
such	liabilities	will	reduce	the	cash	flow	of 	the	Company.	The	Company	employs	prudent	risk	management	practices	and	
maintains suitable liability insurance.

environmental concerns 

The oil and natural gas industry is subject to environmental regulation pursuant to local, provincial and federal legislation. 
A	breach	of 	such	legislation	may	result	in	the	imposition	of 	fines	or	issuance	of 	clean	up	orders	in	respect	of 	Cequence	or	
its working interests. Such legislation may be changed to impose higher standards and potentially more costly obligations on 
Cequence. Furthermore, management believes the federal political parties appear to favor new programs for environmental 
laws and regulation, particularly in relation to the reduction of  emissions, and there is no assurance that any such programs, 
laws or regulations, if  proposed and enacted, will not contain emission reduction targets which Cequence cannot meet, 
and	financial	penalties	or	charges	could	be	incurred	as	a	result	of 	the	failure	to	meet	such	targets.	In	particular	there	is	
uncertainty regarding the Federal Government’s Regulatory Framework for Air Emissions (“Framework”), as issued under 
the Canadian Environmental Protection Act.

regulatory risk

There can be no assurance that government royalties, income tax laws, environmental laws and regulatory requirements 
relating to the oil and gas industry will not be changed in a manner which adversely affects the Company or its shareholders. 
Although the Company has no control over these regulatory risks, it continuously monitors changes in these areas by 
participating in industry organizations and conferences, exchanging information with third party experts and employing 
qualified	individuals	to	assess	the	impact	of 	such	changes	on	the	Company’s	financial	and	operating	results.
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current economic conditions

Recent	market	events	and	conditions,	including	disruptions	in	the	international	credit	markets	and	other	financial	systems	
and	the	deterioration	of 	global	economic	conditions,	have	caused	significant	volatility	to	commodity	prices.	These	
conditions	persisted	throughout	2009	and	2010,	causing	a	loss	of 	confidence	in	the	global	credit	and	financial	markets	and	
resulted	in	the	collapse	of,	and	government	intervention	in,	major	banks,	financial	institutions	and	insurers	and	created	a	
climate of  greater volatility, less liquidity, widening of  credit spreads, a lack of  price transparency, increased credit losses 
and tighter credit conditions. Notwithstanding various actions by governments, concerns about the general condition of  
the	capital	markets,	financial	instruments,	banks,	investment	banks,	insurers	and	other	financial	institutions	caused	the	
broader credit markets to further deteriorate and stock markets to decline substantially. These factors have negatively 
impacted company valuations and will impact the performance of  the global economy going forward. Petroleum and 
natural gas prices are expected to remain volatile for the near future as a result of  market uncertainties over the supply 
and demand of  these commodities due to the current state of  the world economies, OPEC actions and the ongoing 
global credit and liquidity concerns. 

royalty regimes 

alberta 

On March 11, 2010 the Alberta government announced further changes to its royalty regime which will take effect 
beginning January 1, 2011, as a result of  its “Competitiveness Review”. The key changes are: 1) the current incentive 
program	of 	five	percent	for	the	first	year	of 	production	on	new	natural	gas	and	conventional	oil	wells	will	become	
permanent	with	the	current	time	and	volume	limits;	2)	the	maximum	royalty	rate	for	conventional	oil	will	be	reduced	
at	higher	price	levels	from	50	percent	to	40	percent;	3)	the	maximum	royalty	rate	for	conventional	and	unconventional	
natural	gas	will	be	reduced	at	higher	price	levels	from	50	percent	to	36	percent;	and	4)	the	transitional	royalty	framework	
will continue until its original announced expiration on December 31, 2013, however, effective January 1, 2011, no new 
wells will be allowed to select the transitional royalty rates.

On May 27, 2010 the Alberta government released the new royalty curves associated with the changes announced 
on March 11, 2010, which determine the royalty rates at certain commodity price levels, and revised the natural gas 
deep drilling credit to wells deeper than 2,000 metres, compared to 2,500 metres previously. The deep drilling credit is  
$625 per metre for wells between 2,000 metres and 3,500 metres with higher rates thereafter, increasing incrementally with 
increased	depth.	The	Alberta	government	also	announced	an	extension	to	the	five	percent	new	well	rate	to	18	production	
months and a volume limit of  500 MMcf  for horizontal gas wells and time and volume limit extensions on horizontal 
oil wells, dependent on depth.

forward-looking statements
Certain statements contained within this MD & A constitute forward-looking statements. These statements relate to future 
events or our future performance. All statements other than statements of  historical fact may be forward-looking statements. 
Forward-looking	statements	are	often,	but	not	always,	identified	by	the	use	of 	words	such	as	“seek”,	“anticipate”,	“budget”,	
“plan”, “continue”, “estimate”, “expect”, “forecast”, “may”, “will”, “project”, “predict”, “potential”, “targeting”, “intend”, 
“could”, “might”, “should”, “believe”, and similar expressions. Forward-looking statements in this MD & A include, but 
are not limited to, statements with respect to: the potential impact of  implementation of  the Alberta Royalty Framework on 
Cequence’s	condition	and	projected	2011	capital	investments;	projections	with	respect	to	growth	of 	natural	gas	production;	
the	projected	impact	of 	land	access	and	regulatory	issues;	projections	relating	to	the	volatility	of 	crude	oil	and	natural	
gas	prices	in	2011	and	beyond	and	reasons	therefore;	the	Company’s	projected	capital	investment	levels	for	2011	and	the	
source	of 	funding	therefore;	the	effect	of 	the	Company’s	risk	management	program,	including	the	impact	of 	derivative	
financial	instruments;	the	Company’s	defence	of 	lawsuits;	the	impact	of 	the	climate	change	initiatives	on	operating	costs;	
the impact of  Western Canada pipeline constraints. Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on forward-looking 
statements, as there can be no assurance that the plans, intentions or expectations upon which they are based will occur. 
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By their nature, forward-looking statements involve numerous assumptions, known and unknown risks and uncertainties, 
both general and specific, that contribute to the possibility that the predictions, forecasts, projections and other  
forward-looking	statements	will	not	occur,	which	may	cause	the	Company’s	actual	performance	and	financial	results	in	
future periods to differ materially from any estimates or projections of  future performance or results expressed or implied 
by such forward-looking statements. These assumptions, risks and uncertainties include, among other things: volatility of  
and	assumptions	regarding	oil	and	natural	gas	prices;	assumptions	based	upon	Cequence’s	current	guidance;	fluctuations	
in	currency	and	interest	rates;	product	supply	and	demand;	market	competition;	risks	inherent	in	the	Company’s	marketing	
operations,	including	credit	risks;	imprecision	of 	reserves	estimates	and	estimates	of 	recoverable	quantities	of 	oil,	natural	
gas	and	liquids	from	resource	plays	and	other	sources	not	currently	classified	as	proved;	the	Company’s	ability	to	replace	
and	expand	oil	and	gas	reserves;	the	Company’s	ability	to	generate	sufficient	cash	flow	from	operations	to	meet	its	current	
and	future	obligations;	the	Company’s	ability	to	access	external	sources	of 	debt	and	equity	capital;	the	timing	and	cost	
of 	well	and	pipeline	constructions;	the	Company’s	ability	to	secure	adequate	product	transportation;	changes	in	royalty,	
tax,	environmental	and	other	laws	or	regulations	or	the	interpretations	of 	such	laws	or	regulations;	risks	associated	with	
existing	and	potential	future	lawsuits	and	regulatory	actions	made	against	the	Company;	and	other	risks	and	uncertainties	
described	from	time	to	time	in	the	reports	and	filings	made	with	securities	regulatory	authorities	by	Cequence.	Statements	
relating to “reserves” are deemed to be forward-looking statements, as they involve the implied assessment, based on 
certain	estimates	and	assumptions	that	the	resources	and	reserves	described	can	be	profitably	produced	in	the	future.	

The forward looking statements contained herein concerning production, sales prices, and capital spending are based 
on Cequence’s 2011 capital program. The material assumptions supporting the 2011 capital program are: i) 2011 
annual	production	of 	approximately	8,600	boe/day;	 ii)	a	$4.00	CAD/gj	AECO	gas	price;	 iii)	capital	 spending	of 	 
approximately $55,000.

Financial	outlook	information	contained	in	this	MD	&	A	about	prospective	results	of 	operations,	financial	position	or	
cash	flows	is	based	on	assumptions	about	future	events,	including	economic	conditions	and	proposed	courses	of 	action,	
based	on	management’s	assessment	of 	the	relevant	information	currently	available.	The	purpose	of 	such	financial	outlook	
is	to	enrich	this	MD&A.	Readers	are	cautioned	that	such	financial	outlook	information	contained	in	this	MD	&	A	should	
not be used for purposes other than for which it is disclosed herein.

Although Cequence believes that the expectations represented by such forward-looking statements are reasonable, there 
can be no assurance that such expectations will prove to be correct. Readers are cautioned that the foregoing list of  
important factors is not exhaustive. Furthermore, the forward-looking statements contained in this MD & A are made as 
of  the date of  this MD & A and, except as required by law, Cequence does not undertake any obligation to update publicly 
or to revise any of  the included forward-looking statements, whether as a result of  new information, future events or 
otherwise.	The	forward-looking	statements	contained	in	this	MD	&	A	are	expressly	qualified	by	this	cautionary	statement.
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independent  
auditor’s report

to the shareholders of cequence energy ltd.:
We	have	audited	the	accompanying	consolidated	financial	statements	of 	Cequence	Energy	Ltd.,	which	comprise	
the consolidated balance sheets as at December 31, 2010 and 2009 and the consolidated statements of  operations, 
comprehensive loss and deficit and cash flows for the years then ended, and the notes to the consolidated  
financial	statements.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management	is	responsible	for	the	preparation	and	fair	presentation	of 	these	consolidated	financial	statements	in	
accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, and for such internal control as management 
determines	is	necessary	to	enable	the	preparation	of 	consolidated	financial	statements	that	are	free	from	material	
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our	responsibility	is	to	express	an	opinion	on	these	consolidated	financial	statements	based	on	our	audits.	We	conducted	
our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply 
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated 
financial	statements	are	free	from	material	misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated 
financial	statements.	The	procedures	selected	depend	on	the	auditor’s	judgment,	including	the	assessment	of 	the	risks	
of 	material	misstatement	of 	the	consolidated	financial	statements,	whether	due	to	fraud	or	error.	In	making	those	
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of  the 
consolidated	financial	statements	in	order	to	design	audit	procedures	that	are	appropriate	in	the	circumstances,	but	not	
for the purpose of  expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of  the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of  accounting policies used and the reasonableness of  accounting estimates made by 
management,	as	well	as	evaluating	the	overall	presentation	of 	the	consolidated	financial	statements.

We	believe	that	the	audit	evidence	we	have	obtained	in	our	audits	is	sufficient	and	appropriate	to	provide	a	basis	for	
our audit opinion. 

Opinion

In	our	opinion,	the	consolidated	financial	statements	present	fairly,	in	all	material	respects,	the	financial	position	of 	
Cequence	Energy	Ltd.	as	at	December	31,	2010	and	2009	and	its	operations	and	its	cash	flows	for	the	years	then	ended	
in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

 
Chartered Accountants 
Calgary, Alberta 
March 10, 2011
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consolidated financial 
statements

consolidated balance sheets

(Expressed in thousands of  Canadian dollars)

DECEMBER 
31, 2010

$

DECEMBER 
31, 2009

$
ASSETS
CURRENT
 Cash  $ 1,321  $ 18,128
 Accounts receivable 16,439 10,144
 Deposits and prepaid expenses 2,480 913
 Commodity contracts (Note 18) - 1,420

20,240 30,605
Investments (Note 8) - 13,920
Property and equipment (Note 9) 409,955 158,011
Future income taxes (Note 12) 26,441 5,575

456,636 208,111
LIABILITIES
CURRENT
 Demand credit facilities (Note 10) 57,125 -
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 36,240 23,175
 Future income taxes (Note 12) - 424

93,365 23,599
Long-term debt related to investments (Note 8) - 18,204
Asset retirement obligations (Note 11) 14,622 4,059

107,987 45,862
CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS (Note 17)
SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (Note 22)
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Share capital (Note 13) 465,963 267,908
Contributed surplus (Note 15) 10,681 7,818
Deficit (127,995) (113,477)

348,649 162,249
 $ 456,636  $ 208,111

APPROVED BY THE BOARD 

“Donald Archibald” Donald Archibald, Director

“Robert C. Cook”  Robert C. Cook, Director

 
The	accompanying	notes	are	an	integral	part	of 	these	consolidated	financial	statements.
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consolidated financial  
statements 
consolidated statements of operations,  
comprehensive loss and deficit

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

(Expressed in thousands of  Canadian dollars except per share amounts)
2010

$
2009

$

REVENUE
 Production revenue 50,614 18,664
 Royalties (5,769) (3,164)
	 Realized	gain	on	derivative	financial	instruments	(Note	18)	 3,956 9,319
	 Unrealized	loss	on	derivative	financial	instruments	(Note	18) (2,793) (1,632)
 Other income 31 131

46,039 23,318
EXPENSES
 Accretion expense (Note 11) 585 207
 Depletion, depreciation, and amortization (Note 9) 32,432 14,349
 General and administrative 5,544 4,667
 Interest 1,981 1,405
 Operating costs 17,700 9,809
 Reorganization expenses (Note 4) - 3,295
 Stock-based compensation (Note 14) 2,863 712
 Transportation 4,357 1,575
 Loss on investment (Note 8) 281 213

65,743 36,232

LOSS	BEFORE	INCOME	TAXES (19,704) (12,914)
INCOME	TAX	RECOVERY	(Note	12) (5,186) (4,272)

LOSS BEFORE NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST (14,518) (8,642)
Non-controlling interest - (12)
NET LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS (14,518) (8,654)
DEFICIT, BEGINNING OF PERIOD (113,477) (104,823)
DEFICIT, END OF PERIOD (127,995) (113,477)

Net loss per share, basic and diluted (Note 16)  $ (0.21)  $ (0.41)

The	accompanying	notes	are	an	integral	part	of 	these	consolidated	financial	statements.
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consolidated financial  
statements
consolidated statements of cash flows

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

(Expressed in thousands of  Canadian dollars)
2010

$
2009

$
CASH FLOWS RELATED TO THE FOLLOWING ACTIVITIES:
OPERATING
Net loss and comprehensive loss (14,518) (8,654)
Adjustments for non-cash items:
 Depletion, depreciation, and amortization 32,432 14,349
 Accretion expense 585 207
 Stock-based compensation 2,863 712
 Loss on investment (Note 8) 281 213
 Gain on sale of  commodity contracts (Note 18) (219) -
	 Unrealized	loss	on	derivative	financial	instruments	(Note	18) 2,793 1,632
 Write-down and amortization of  loan premium and other derivative  
	 	 financial	instruments 32 (50)

 Future income tax recovery (5,184) (4,494)
 Non-controlling interest - 12

19,065 3,927
Asset retirement expenditures (Note 11) (126) (75)
Proceeds from sale of  commodity contracts (Note 18) 3,386 -
Net change in non-cash working capital (Note 19) (2,017) 9,676

20,308 13,528
INVESTING
 Corporate acquisitions (Note 5) (3,483) (38)
 Property and equipment expenditures (64,120) (24,836)
 Acquisition of  assets (Note 6) (84,868) (21,757)
 Proceeds from sale of  assets (Note 7) 41,571 -
 Proceeds from sale and repayment of  Investments (Note 8) 13,457 17
Net change in non-cash working capital (Note 19) 2,353 1,670

(95,090) (44,944)
FINANCING
 Proceeds from demand credit facilities 36,169 -
 Repayment of  demand credit facilities (20,451) (47,970)
 Proceeds from long-term debt related to investments - 18,054
 Repayment of  long-term debt related to investments (18,054) -
 Issue of  common shares 64,891 67,340
 Share issue costs (4,580) (3,232)
 Repurchase of  common shares under NCIB - (85)
Net change in non-cash working capital (Note 19) - -

57,975 34,107
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH (16,807) 2,691
CASH, BEGINNING OF PERIOD 18,128 15,437

CASH, END OF PERIOD 1,321 18,128
 SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
 Income taxes paid - 7
 Interest paid 2,242 1,125
The	accompanying	notes	are	an	integral	part	of 	these	consolidated	financial	statements.
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years ended december 31, 2010 and 2009

(All figures expressed in thousands except per share amounts unless otherwise noted)

1. nature of operations
Cequence Energy Ltd. is engaged in the acquisition, exploration, development and production of  petroleum and natural 
gas reserves in Western Canada.

2. basis of presentation
These	consolidated	financial	statements	have	been	prepared	by	management	in	accordance	with	Canadian	generally	
accepted accounting principles (“Canadian GAAP”). These statements include all assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses 
of  Cequence Energy Ltd. (“Cequence” or the “Company”) and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, 1175043 Alberta Ltd. 
and Cequence Acquisitions Ltd. These statements further include the results of  Peloton Exploration Corp. (“Peloton”) 
from the date of  acquisition on June 11, 2010 (see note 5(b)). Effective July 1, 2010, Peloton was amalgamated with 
Cequence and the combined entity was continued as Cequence Energy Ltd.

3. significant accounting policies

financial instruments

A	financial	instrument	is	any	contract	that	gives	rise	to	a	financial	asset	of 	one	entity	and	a	financial	liability	or	equity	
instrument	of 	another	entity.	Financial	assets	and	financial	liabilities	are	recognized	on	the	consolidated	balance	sheet	at	
the	time	the	Company	becomes	a	party	to	the	contractual	provisions.	Upon	initial	recognition,	financial	instruments	are	
measured	at	fair	value.	Measurement	in	subsequent	periods	is	dependent	on	the	classification	of 	the	financial	instrument.	

The	Company	has	made	the	following	classifications:

a)	Cash	and	investments	are	classified	as	financial	assets	held	for	trading	and	are	measured	at	fair	value.	Gains	and	
losses from revaluation are recognized in net income (loss).

b)	Accounts	receivable	are	classified	as	loans	and	receivables	and	are	initially	measured	at	fair	value.	Subsequent	to	
this they are recorded at amortized cost using the effective interest method.

c) Demand credit facilities, accounts payable and accrued liabilities and long-term debt related to investments 
are	classified	as	other	liabilities	and	are	initially	measured	at	fair	value.	Subsequent	to	this	they	are	recorded	at	
amortized cost using the effective interest method. 

d) Derivative instruments, including embedded derivative instruments, that do not qualify as hedges, or are not 
designated as hedges on the balance sheet, including commodity contracts, are recorded at fair value with changes 
in	fair	value	recognized	in	net	income	(loss).	Commodity	contracts	are	classified	as	held	for	trading.	Derivative	
instruments are used by the Company from time to time to manage economic exposure to market risks relating 
to	commodity	prices.	Cequence’s	policy	is	not	to	utilize	derivative	financial	instruments	for	speculative	purposes.

notes to the consolidated 
financial statements
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3. significant accounting policies (continued) 
financial instruments (continued)

Transaction	costs	related	to	financial	instruments,	derivative	financial	instruments	and	embedded	derivative	financial	
instruments are expensed as incurred.

Canadian GAAP establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair 
value. The three levels of  the fair value hierarchy are described below:

Level 1: Values based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for 
identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2: Values based on quoted prices in markets that are not active or model inputs that are observable either directly 
or indirectly for substantially the full term of  the asset or liability.

Level 3:	Values	based	on	prices	or	valuation	techniques	that	require	inputs	that	are	both	unobservable	and	significant	to	
the overall fair value measurement.

When the inputs used to measure fair value fall within different levels of  the hierarchy, the level within which the fair value 
measurement	is	categorized	is	based	on	the	lowest	level	input	that	is	significant	to	the	fair	value	measure	in	its	entirety.

property and equipment

cost

The Company follows the full cost method of  accounting whereby all costs relating to the acquisition of, the exploration 
for and development of  petroleum and natural gas reserves are initially capitalized and accumulated in cost centers by 
country. Costs capitalized include land acquisition costs, geological and geophysical expenditures, rentals on undeveloped 
and non-producing properties, costs of  drilling productive and non-productive wells and lease and well equipment.

Gains and losses on disposals of  petroleum and natural gas properties are recognized only when crediting the proceeds 
to the full cost pool would result in a change of  20 percent or more in the depletion and depreciation rate.

Other property and equipment are recorded at cost.

depletion, depreciation and amortization

Capitalized costs of  petroleum an natural gas properties and related equipment are depleted and depreciated using the unit-
of-production method based on the Company’s share of  gross proved petroleum and natural gas reserves as determined 
by independent engineers. For the purpose of  this calculation, production and reserves of  petroleum and natural gas are 
converted to a common unit of  measurement on the basis of  their relative energy content, where six thousand cubic feet 
of  natural gas equates to one barrel of  oil.

Costs of  acquiring and evaluating unproved properties are excluded from costs subject to depletion and depreciation until 
it is determined whether proved reserves are attributable to the properties or impairment has occurred.

Other property and equipment are amortized over 3 to 5 years on a straight line basis.

notes to the consolidated financial statements
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3. significant accounting policies (continued)  
property and equipment (continued)

impairment (ceiling test)

Petroleum and natural gas assets are evaluated in each reporting period to determine that the costs are recoverable and do not 
exceed	the	fair	value	of 	the	properties.	The	costs	are	assessed	to	be	recoverable	if 	the	sum	of 	the	undiscounted	cash	flows	
expected from the production of  proved reserves and the lower of  cost and market of  unproved properties exceed the carrying 
value of  all petroleum and natural gas assets. If  the carrying value of  the petroleum and natural gas assets is not assessed to be 
recoverable,	an	impairment	loss	is	recognized	to	the	extent	that	the	carrying	value	exceeds	the	sum	of 	the	discounted	cash	flows	
expected from the production of  proved and probable reserves and the lower of  cost and market of  unproved properties. The 
cash	flows	are	estimated	using	future	prices	and	costs	and	are	discounted	using	a	market	adjusted	interest	rate.

asset retirement obligations

The Company recognizes the fair value of  a liability for an asset retirement obligation in the period in which it is incurred 
and records a corresponding increase in the carrying value of  the related long-lived asset. Fair value is estimated using the 
present	value	of 	the	estimated	future	cash	outflows	to	abandon	the	asset	at	the	Company’s	credit-adjusted	risk-free	interest	
rate. The fair value is determined through a review of  engineering studies, industry guidelines, and management’s estimates 
on a site-by-site basis. The liability is subsequently adjusted for the passage of  time, and is recognized as an accretion 
expense in the statement of  operations. The liability is also adjusted due to revisions in either the timing or the amount 
of 	the	original	estimated	cash	flows	associated	with	the	liability.	The	increase	in	the	carrying	value	of 	the	asset	is	depleted	
using the unit-of-production method based on estimated gross proved reserves as determined by independent engineers.

business combinations

The	purchase	method	of 	accounting	is	used	to	account	for	acquisitions	of 	subsidiaries	and	assets	that	meet	the	definition	
of  a business under Canadian GAAP. The cost of  an acquisition is measured as the fair value of  the assets given, equity 
instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed measured around the date of  announcement of  the transaction. 
Acquisition-related	costs	are	capitalized	as	part	of 	the	acquisition.	Identifiable	assets	acquired	and	liabilities	and	contingent	
liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The excess 
of 	the	cost	of 	acquisition	over	the	fair	value	of 	the	identifiable	assets,	liabilities	and	contingent	liabilities	acquired	is	
recorded as goodwill. If  the cost of  acquisition is less than the fair value of  the net assets of  the subsidiary acquired, the 
difference	is	allocated	to	identifiable	assets	and	liabilities	acquired.	Results	of 	subsidiaries	are	included	in	the	consolidated	
statement of  operations and comprehensive income (loss) from the closing date of  acquisition.

non-controlling interest

Non-controlling interest represents the minority shareholders’ interest in the carrying values of  HFG Holdings Inc. (“HFG”). 
As described in note 5(a), on November 12, 2009, the Company acquired all of  the remaining issued and outstanding shares 
of  HFG. As a result, the portion of  the net assets of  HFG that was fully consolidated but not wholly-owned by Cequence 
at the date of  acquisition was eliminated as part of  the purchase equation, while the portion of  net income attributable to 
such non-controlling interest to the date of  acquisition is shown separately on the consolidated statement of  operations. 

flow-through shares

The	Company,	from	time	to	time,	issues	flow-through	shares	to	finance	a	portion	of 	its	capital	expenditure	program.	
Pursuant	to	the	terms	of 	the	flow-through	share	agreements,	the	tax	deductions	associated	with	the	expenditures	are	
renounced to the subscribers. Accordingly, when the expenditures are renounced with the Canada Revenue Agency, share 
capital is reduced and a future tax liability is recorded equal to the estimated amount of  future income taxes payable by 
the Company as a result of  the renunciations.

notes to the consolidated financial statements
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3. significant accounting policies (continued)

per share amounts

Basic per share amounts are computed by dividing the net income (loss) by the weighted average number of  common 
shares outstanding during the period. Diluted per share amounts are calculated giving effect to the potential dilution that 
would occur if  stock options and warrants were exercised. The treasury stock method is used to determine the dilutive 
effect of  stock options and warrants. The treasury stock method assumes that proceeds received from the exercise of  
options and warrants for which the exercise price is less than market price plus the unamortized portion of  stock-based 
compensation are used to repurchase common shares at the average market price for the period.

revenue recognition

Revenue from the sale of  petroleum and natural gas is recognized based on volumes delivered to customers at 
contractual delivery points and rates. The costs associated with the delivery, including operating and maintenance costs, 
transportation and production-based royalty expenses are recognized in the same period in which the related revenue is  
earned and recorded. 

Revenue from interest income is recognized when earned.

joint venture accounting

A	significant	portion	of 	the	Company’s	exploration,	development	and	production	activities	are	conducted	jointly	with	
others.	These	consolidated	financial	statements	reflect	only	the	Company’s	proportionate	interest	in	such	activities.

stock-based compensation

The	Company	has	a	stock	option	plan	and	issues	stock	options	and	performance	warrants	to	directors,	officers,	employees	
and other service providers. Compensation costs attributable to stock options and performance warrants granted are 
measured at fair value at the date of  grant and are expensed over the vesting period with a corresponding increase in 
contributed surplus. When stock options and performance warrants are exercised, the cash proceeds together with the 
amount previously recorded as contributed surplus is recorded as share capital. The Company incorporates an estimated 
forfeiture rate for stock options and performance warrants that will not vest, and adjusts for actual forfeitures as they occur.

income taxes

Income taxes are accounted for using the liability method of  income tax allocation. Under the liability method, income 
tax	assets	and	liabilities	are	recorded	to	recognize	future	tax	inflows	and	outflows	arising	from	the	settlement	or	recovery	
of 	assets	and	liabilities	at	their	carrying	values.	Income	tax	assets	are	also	recognized	for	the	benefits	from	tax	losses	
and	deductions	that	cannot	be	identified	with	particular	assets	or	liabilities.	Future	income	tax	assets	and	liabilities	are	
determined based on the substantively enacted tax laws and rates that are anticipated to apply in the periods of  realization 
with changes in tax rates or tax laws recognized in earnings in the period of  substantive enactment. A valuation allowance 
is	recorded	to	the	extent	that	the	tax	benefits	are	not	more	likely	than	not	to	be	realized.	Corporate	tax	returns	are	subject	
to audit and reassessment by the Canada Revenue Agency. The results of  any reassessments will be accounted for in the 
year in which they are determined.

notes to the consolidated financial statements
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3. significant accounting policies (continued)

measurement uncertainty

The	preparation	of 	financial	statements	in	accordance	with	Canadian	generally	accepted	accounting	principles	requires	
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of  assets and liabilities and disclosure 
of 	contingent	assets	and	liabilities	at	the	dates	of 	the	consolidated	financial	statements	and	the	reported	amounts	of 	
revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Such estimates relate primarily to unsettled transactions and events as 
of 	the	date	of 	the	consolidated	financial	statements.	Actual	results	could	differ	from	these	estimates	and	the	differences	
could be material.

The amounts recorded for depletion, depreciation and amortization of  property and equipment, the provision for asset 
retirement obligations, and the valuation of  petroleum and natural gas properties are based on estimates of  proved and 
probable reserves, production rates, future petroleum and natural gas prices, future costs and the remaining lives and 
period	of 	future	benefit	of 	the	related	assets.

Amounts recorded from joint venture partners are based on the Company’s interpretation of  underlying agreements and 
may be subject to joint approval. The Company has recorded balances due from its joint venture partners based on costs 
incurred and its interpretation of  allowable expenditures. Any adjustment required as a result of  joint venture audits are 
recorded in the period of  settlement with joint venture partners.

The amounts recorded for future income tax assets and future tax expense (recovery) are based on estimates of  the 
probability of  the Company utilizing certain tax pools and assets which, in turn, is dependent on estimates of  proved 
and probable reserves, production rates, future petroleum and natural gas prices, and changes in legislation, tax rates and 
interpretations by taxation authorities.

The fair value of  commodity contracts and the resultant unrealized gain (loss) on commodity contracts is based on 
estimates of  future natural gas prices.

4. reorganization transactions
On July 29, 2009, the shareholders of  Cequence approved certain reorganization transactions (the “Reorganization 
Transactions”) to recapitalize the Company with new equity, appoint new management and restructure the board of  
directors (see note 13).

Costs of  the reorganization of  $3,295 relate primarily to legal, investment banking and severance and were expensed in 2009.

5. corporate acquisitions

a) purchase of HFG 

On November 12, 2009, the Company acquired all of  the issued and outstanding shares of  HFG not already held by or on behalf  
of  Cequence for consideration of  2,645 common voting shares. The shares were valued based on Cequence’s weighted average 
trading	price	on	the	TSX	during	the	three	days	before	and	three	days	after	the	announcement	of 	the	transaction.	The	transaction	
was accounted for using the purchase method. The elimination of  the non-controlling interest through an acquisition at a purchase 
price	greater	than	HFG’s	book	value	in	the	Company’s	consolidated	financial	statements	had	the	effect	of 	increasing	property	and	
equipment assets by $3,123, and decreasing future income tax assets by $727. The accounts of  the Company include the results 
of  HFG for the year ended December 31, 2009. The non-controlling interest presented on the statement of  operations includes 
the non-controlling interest’s share of  the operations of  HFG to the date of  the acquisition. 

notes to the consolidated financial statements
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5. corporate acquisitions (continued)  
a) purchase of HFG (continued)

The purchase price equation is as follows:

(000’s)
COST OF ACQUISITION
Common shares (2,645 at $3.97) 10,502
Transaction costs 380
TOTAL 10,882

(000’s)
FAIR VALUE OF THE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ACQUIRED
Non-controlling interest at date of  acquisition 8,486
Property and equipment 3,123
Future income tax assets (727)
TOTAL 10,882

The attributed values of  the common voting shares issued have been excluded from the consolidated statement of  cash 
flows	as	a	non-cash	transaction.

b) purchase of peloton 

On June 11, 2010, the Company acquired all of  the issued and outstanding shares of  Peloton, a private oil and gas company, 
for	consideration	of 	12,059	common	voting	shares.	The	shares	were	valued	based	on	Cequence’s	five	day	weighted	average	
trading	price	on	the	TSX	before	and	after	the	announcement	of 	the	transaction.	The	transaction	was	accounted	for	using	
the purchase method whereby the assets acquired and liabilities assumed are recorded at their fair value. The accounts of  
the Company include the results of  Peloton effective June 11, 2010. 

The purchase price allocation is as follows:

($000’s)
COST OF ACQUISITION
Common shares (12,059 at $2.51) 30,269
Transaction costs 645
TOTAL 30,914

($000’s)
FAIR VALUE OF THE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ACQUIRED
Property and equipment 29,319
Fair value of  commodity contracts 339
Bank debt (4,984)
Working	capital	deficiency (1,031)
Asset retirement obligations (552)
Future income tax assets – non-current 7,918
Future income tax liabilities – current (95)
TOTAL 30,914

The attributed values of  the common voting shares issued have been excluded from the consolidated statement of  cash 
flows	as	a	non-cash	transaction.

notes to the consolidated financial statements
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5. corporate acquisitions (continued) 

c) purchase of temple

On September 10, 2010, the Company acquired all of  the issued and outstanding shares of  Temple Energy Inc. (“Temple”), 
a private oil and gas company, for consideration of  46,846 common voting shares. The acquisition was effected by way of  
a plan of  arrangement, whereby Cequence Acquisitions Ltd., a newly formed subsidiary of  the Company, was amalgamated 
with	Temple	and	continued	as	Cequence	Acquisitions	Ltd.	The	shares	were	valued	based	on	Cequence’s	five	day	weighted	
average	trading	price	on	the	TSX	before	and	after	the	announcement	of 	the	transaction.	The	transaction	was	accounted	
for using the purchase method whereby the assets acquired and liabilities assumed are recorded at their fair value. The 
accounts of  the Company include the results of  Cequence Acquisitions Ltd. effective September 10, 2010. 

The purchase price allocation is as follows:

($000’s)
COST OF ACQUISITION
Common shares (46,846 at $2.28) 106,809
Transaction costs 2,838
TOTAL 109,647

($000’s)
FAIR VALUE OF THE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ACQUIRED
Property and equipment 143,990
Fair value of  commodity contracts 4,201
Bank debt (36,423)
Working	capital	deficiency (3,834)
Asset retirement obligations (5,902)
Future income tax assets – non-current 8,798
Future income tax liabilities – current (1,183)
TOTAL 109,647

The attributed values of  the common voting shares issued have been excluded from the consolidated statement of  cash 
flows	as	a	non-cash	transaction.

6. property acquisition
On September 8, 2010, the Company closed the acquisition of  certain gas weighted properties located in the Simonette 
area	of 	Northwest	Alberta	(the	“Deep	Basin	Assets”).	The	purchase	price,	subject	to	final	adjustments,	was	$85,000.	An	
asset retirement obligation of  $3,683 has been recognized as part of  the acquisition.

The	results	of 	operations	from	these	properties	have	been	included	in	the	consolidated	financial	statements	from	the	
closing	date	of 	the	acquisition.	The	acquisition	was	financed	through	a	series	of 	equity	issuances	(see	note	13)	and	
available cash.

7. property disposition
On July 27, 2010, Cequence sold certain non-producing gas weighted properties in the Sinclair region of  Northwest 
Alberta	for	total	cash	consideration	of 	$36,900,	subject	to	final	adjustments.	No	gain	or	loss	resulted	on	the	sale	as	the	
sale did not change the depletion rate of  the Company by more than 20 percent.
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8. investments and long-term debt related thereto
As	at	December	31,	2009,	the	Company	held	long-term	floating	rate	notes	(“MAV	2”	notes)	issued	as	a	result	of 	the	
restructuring discussed below. At December 31, 2008, the Company held the original Canadian asset-backed commercial 
paper (“ABCP”) with an original cost of  $24,147. These investments matured during the third quarter of  2007 but, as a 
result of  the liquidity issues in the ABCP market, did not settle on maturity. 

On January 21, 2009, the Pan-Canadian Investors Committee announced that the restructuring had been completed 
to extend the maturity of  the ABCP to provide for a maturity similar to that of  the underlying assets. As a result, the 
Company received new replacement MAV 2 notes with a total face value of  $24,142.

The following are the face value of  the new notes received from the restructuring at December 31, 2009:

$
MAV2 Class A1 6,700
MAV2 Class A2 14,149
MAV2 Class B 2,568
MAV2 Class C 725

24,142

On August 25, 2010, the Company completed the sale of  its entire interest in MAV 2 notes for net proceeds of  
$13,453 (net of  transaction costs of  $96) which represents approximately $0.68 per $1.00 of  face value for the Class 
A1 notes, $0.58 per $1.00 of  face value for the Class A2 notes, $0.33 per $1.00 of  face value for the Class B notes and  
$0.05 per $1.00 of  face value for the Class C notes. This has resulted in a loss on MAV 2 notes recognized in income of  
$281 for the year ended December 31, 2010.

A summary of  changes to the carrying value is as follows:

DECEMBER 
31, 2010

$

DECEMBER 
31, 2009

$

Opening balance 13,738 13,968
Principal Repayments (4) (17)
Valuation loss on investments (281) (213)
Sale of  investments (13,453) -
Ending balance - 13,738

On March 31, 2009, the Company’s bank provided the Company with an additional credit facility to provide liquidity 
in respect to the MAV 2 notes. The credit facility was structured to a maximum of  $18,054 available for draws under 
revolving credit facilities and $18,054 was drawn at December 31, 2009.

All proceeds from the sale of  MAV 2 notes were used to repay the long-term debt related to investments facility. The 
balance of  the facility was paid with available cash and the long-term debt related to investments facility was closed. The 
effective interest rate for the year ended December 31, 2010 was 1.19 percent (2009 – 1.13 percent). Interest expense on 
long-term debt related to investments included as interest expense in the consolidated statement of  operations for the 
year ended December 31, 2010 was $129 (2009 – $153).
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9. property and equipment

 DECEMBER 
31, 2010

DECEMBER 
31, 2009

Petroleum and natural gas properties 508,901 224,525
Accumulated Depletion, Depreciation and Amortization (98,946) (66,514)

409,955 158,011

Unproved properties not subject to depletion amounted to approximately $50,123 at December 31, 2010 (2009 – $17,653).

The Company capitalized general and administrative costs related to exploration and development of  approximately $nil 
for the year ended December 31, 2010 (2009 – $1,441).

Costs subject to depletion include $141,710 of  estimated future capital costs (2009 – $30,169).

The benchmark escalated prices on which the December 31, 2010 ceiling test is based are as follows:

NATURAL 
GAS CONDENSATE CRUDE OIL

AECO Spot
($/mmbtu)

Edmonton 
Pentanes Plus

($/bbl)
Edmonton Par

($/bbl)
2011 4.16 90.54 86.22
2012 4.74 91.96 89.29
2013 5.31 92.74 90.92
2014 5.77 94.82 92.96
2015 6.22 98.12 96.19
2016 6.53 100.59 98.62
2017 6.76 103.42 101.39
2018 6.90 106.00 103.92
2019 7.06 108.82 106.68
2020 7.21 111.01 108.84

Prices increase at a rate of  approximately 2.0 percent per year for natural gas, condensate and crude oil after 2020. 
Adjustments	were	made	to	the	benchmark	prices,	for	purposes	of 	the	ceiling	test,	to	reflect	varied	delivery	points	and	
quality differentials in the products delivered. There was no impairment as at December 31, 2010.
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10. demand credit facilities
As	at	December	31,	2009,	the	Company	had	established	two	credit	facilities	with	a	Canadian	chartered	bank;	a	$40,000	
revolving operating demand loan and a $5,000 non-revolving acquisition/development demand loan. During the year 
ended December 31, 2010, the Company repaid all amounts owing and terminated the facilities.

During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company established two credit facilities with a syndicate of  Canadian 
chartered banks. Credit facility A is a $100,000 extendible revolving term credit facility by way of  prime loans, U.S. Base 
Rate Loans, Banker’s Acceptances and Libor Loans. Credit facility B is a $10,000 operating facility by way of  prime loans, 
U.S. Base Rate Loans, Banker’s Acceptances and letters of  credit. Prime loans and U.S. Base Rate Loans on these facilities 
bear interest at the bank prime rate or U.S. Base Rate, respectively, plus 1.25 percent to 2.75 percent on a sliding scale, 
depending on the Company’s debt to adjusted EBITDA ratio (ranging from being less than or equal to 1.0:1.0 to greater 
than 2.5:1.0). Banker’s Acceptances, Libor Loans and letters of  credit on these facilities bear interest at the Banker’s 
Acceptance rate, Libor rate or letter of  credit rate, as applicable, plus 2.25 percent to 3.75 percent based on the same 
sliding scale as above. The credit facilities may be extended and revolve beyond the initial one-year period, if  requested 
by the Company and accepted by the lenders. If  the credit facilities do not continue to revolve, the facilities will convert 
to a 366-day non-revolving term loan facility. 

Both credit facilities, and the amount available for draws under the facilities, are subject to periodic review by the bank 
and	are	secured	by	a	general	assignment	of 	book	debts	and	a	$250,000	demand	debenture	with	a	first	floating	charge	
over all assets of  the Company. The Company is permitted to hedge up to 67 percent of  its production under the lending 
agreement. As at December 31, 2010, the Company has drawn $57,125 under the extendible revolving term credit 
facility and $nil under the operating facility (December 31, 2009 – $nil drawn under demand credit facilities) and is in 
compliance with all covenants. The effective interest rate, including standby fees and commitment fees, for the year ended  
December 31, 2010 was 4.91 percent (2009 – 2.45 percent on existing credit facilities). The next scheduled review is to 
take place in May 2011.

Included in interest expense in the consolidated statement of  operations is $555 of  transaction costs related to the 
Company’s credit facilities established in the year ended December 31, 2010.

11. asset retirement obligations
The following table summarizes the changes in asset retirement obligations for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009:

DECEMBER 
31, 2010

DECEMBER 
31, 2009

Balance – Beginning of  year 4,059 2,515
Corporate Acquisitions 6,453 -
Asset Acquisitions 3,683 1,165
Dispositions (366) -
Accretion expense 585 207
Liabilities incurred 262 190
Abandonment cost incurred (126) (75)
Revision	in	estimated	cash	flows 72 57
Balance – End of  year 14,622 4,059

The	total	estimated,	undiscounted	cash	flows,	 inflated	at	2	percent,	 required	 to	settle	 the	obligations	are	$44,219	 
(December 31, 2009 – $13,648) which have been discounted using a weighted average credit-adjusted risk-free interest rate 
of  7.89 percent (December 31, 2009 – 7.47 percent). The Company expects these obligations to be settled in approximately 
2 to 30 years. As at December 31, 2010, no funds have been set aside to settle these obligations.
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12. income taxes
a) The following table sets forth the components of  the Company’s future income tax asset at December 31, 2010 and 2009:

2010 2009
Excess of  net book value of  property and equipment and assets retirement 
obligations over related tax pools (3,024) (14,856)

Unrealized	gain	on	financial	instruments - (424)
Non-capital loss carry-forwards 24,211 10,226
Scientific	research	and	development	expenses	and	investment	tax	credits 8,616 8,943
Other tax assets 1,824 1,262
Total net tax assets 31,627 5,151
Allowance on future income tax assets (5,186) -
Current future income tax liability - (424)
Non-current future income tax asset 26,441 5,575

As at December 31, 2010, Cequence has total tax pools of  $513,985.

b) Income tax expense differs from that which would be expected from applying the effective Canadian federal and 
provincial tax rates of  28 percent (2009 – 29 percent) to loss before income taxes as follows: 

YEAR ENDED 
DECEMBER 

31, 2010

YEAR ENDED 
DECEMBER 

31, 2009
Expected income tax recovery (5,529) (3,753)
Effect of  valuation allowance on investment in MAV 2 Notes, net of  interest 79 62
Effect of  stock-based compensation 803 207
Change in value of  reserves and losses due to reassessments (1,110) (1,368)
Change in effective tax rate applied 406 269
Other 167 89
Future income tax recovery (5,184) (4,494)
Current income tax expense (recovery) (2) 222
Income tax recovery (5,186) (4,272)

c)	The	Company	has	non-capital	loss	carry-forwards,	investment	tax	credit	carry-forwards	and	Scientific	Research	
and	Experimental	Development	expenses	available	to	reduce	future	years’	income	for	tax	purposes.	The	Scientific	
Research and Development expenses of  approximately $22,704 available for carry-forward do not expire. The  
non-capital loss and investment tax credit carry-forwards expire as follows:

Year of  Expiry

Non-capital 
losses

$

Investment tax 
credits

$

2011 - -
2012 - -
2013 7,721 -
2014 5,919 -
2015 - -
2016+ 82,859 3,981

96,499 3,981

notes to the consolidated financial statements
years ended december 31, 2010 and 2009
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13. share capital
Cequence is authorized to issue an unlimited number of  common voting shares and common non-voting shares.

2010 2009

Issued common voting shares
Number

(000’s)
Stated Value

$
Number

(000’s)
Stated Value

$
Balance, beginning of  year 39,530 267,908 9,665 192,849
Repurchase of  shares - - (50) (997)
Corporate acquisition – Reorganization - - 380 562
Issue	of 	flow-through	shares - - 500 2,025
Corporate acquisition – HFG - - 2,645 10,502
Future income tax on renouncing 
expenditures	for	flow-through	shares - (512) - -

Corporate acquisition – Peloton 12,059 30,269 - -
Flow-through share private placement 4,070 10,001 - -
Subscription receipts 21,045 44,195 13,398 46,087
Rights offering - - 6,615 9,790
Corporate acquisition – Temple 46,846 106,809
Common share private placement 2,950 6,195 6,377 9,438
Flow-through share private placement 2,250 4,500 - -
Share issue costs, net of  taxes  
of  $1,178 (2009 – $884) - (3,402) - (2,348)

Balance, end of  year 128,750 465,963 39,530 267,908

Warrants, beginning of  year - - 263 598
Warants expired, unexercised - - (263) (598)
Flow-through warrant private placement 4,500 - - -
Warrants, end of  year 4,500 - - -

On August 21, 2009 Cequence completed a four for one share consolidation. All share and per share amounts have been 
adjusted retroactively for the consolidation.

On January 1, 2009, the Company had 263 warrants outstanding that entitled the holder to acquire one common voting 
share	on	a	CDE	“flow-through”	basis	under	the	Income	Tax	Act	(Canada)	at	a	price	of 	$15.24	per	share.	The	warrants	
expired on March 31, 2009 unexercised, with the deemed value of  $598 credited to contributed surplus.

On January 7, 2009, the Company repurchased 50 common voting shares of  the Company under a NCIB for $85. The 
stated value of  the shares was debited to share capital, with the excess of  stated value over the cost of  the re-acquisition 
of  $912 credited to contributed surplus.

On May 27, 2009, the Company entered into an agreement to sell, on a private placement basis, 13,398 subscription receipts 
at a price of  $3.44 per subscription receipt for total proceeds of  $46,087. The subscription receipts were convertible 
to Cequence common voting shares without further consideration upon shareholder approval of  the Reorganization 
Transactions and regulatory approval. Upon closing of  the Reorganization Transactions, the Company’s subscription 
receipts previously issued on June 18, 2009 were converted, for no additional consideration and without further action, 
into common voting shares of  the Company. Holders of  the subscription receipts received one common voting share of  
the Company for each subscription receipt held.

On July 29, 2009, the shareholders of  the Company approved the Reorganization Transactions that included the issuance 
of 	6,377	common	voting	shares	to	new	employees,	directors	and	officers	of 	Cequence	for	total	consideration	of 	$9,438.	
The Company’s shareholders further approved the issuance of  380 common voting shares for total consideration of  $562 
to	purchase	a	private	oil	and	gas	company	owned	by	certain	officers	of 	Cequence.	

notes to the consolidated financial statements
years ended december 31, 2010 and 2009
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13. share capital (continued)
As part of  the Reorganization Transactions, existing shareholders of  the Company were offered rights to purchase 
common voting shares of  Cequence for a price of  $1.48 per share up to a maximum of  6,757 common voting shares.  
The rights offering expired on August 14, 2009 and a total of  6,615 common voting shares were issued for total 
consideration of  $9,790.

Seventy-five	percent	of 	the	common	voting	shares	issued	to	the	new	management	and	directors	of 	the	Company	through	
the private placement and acquisition of  the private oil and gas company described above were deposited into escrow. 
One	third	of 	the	escrowed	shares	are	to	be	released	on	each	of 	the	first,	second	and	third	anniversaries	of 	the	closing	of 	
the Reorganization Transactions on July 30, 2009.

On	October	26,	2009,	the	Company	issued	500	common	voting	shares	on	a	CDE	“flow-through”	basis	for	total	proceeds	
of  $2,025. In accordance with the terms of  the agreement and pursuant to certain provisions of  the Income Tax Act 
(Canada), the Company renounced, for income tax purposes, development expenditures of  $2,025 to the holders of  the 
flow-through	common	shares	effective	December	31,	2009.	Future	tax	of 	approximately	$512	associated	with	renouncing	
the	expenditures	was	recorded	on	the	date	of 	renunciation	in	the	first	quarter	of 	2010.	As	at	December	31,	2009,	the	
Company had incurred all of  the qualifying expenditures.

On November 12, 2009, the Company completed the acquisition of  HFG (see note 5(a)) and issued 2,645 common voting 
shares with a deemed value of  $3.97 per share for total deemed proceeds of  $10,502.

On June 11, 2010, the Company completed the acquisition of  Peloton (see note 5(b)) and issued 12,059 common voting 
shares with a deemed value of  $2.51 per share for total deemed consideration of  $30,269.

On	August	19,	2010,	the	Company	completed	the	sale	of 	3,200	common	voting	shares	on	a	CEE	“flow-through”	
private	placement	basis	at	$2.50	per	share	for	proceeds	of 	$8,000	as	well	as	870	common	voting	shares	on	a	CDE	“flow-
through” private placement basis at $2.30 per share for proceeds of  $2,001, resulting in a total issuance of  4,070 common 
voting shares for total proceeds of  $10,001. Under the terms of  the respective agreements, Cequence is required to 
renounce $8,000 of  CEE expenditures and $2,001 of  CDE expenditures in February 2011. The qualifying CDE and CEE 
expenditures must be incurred by December 31, 2011 pursuant to the terms of  the related agreements. As at December 
31, 2010, the Company has incurred all of  the qualifying CDE expenditures and approximately $5,190 of  the qualifying 
CEE expenditures.

On August 19, 2010, the Company completed the sale of  18,545 subscription receipts at a price of  $2.10 per subscription 
receipt for total proceeds of  $38,945. The subscription receipts were convertible to Cequence common voting shares 
without further consideration upon the closing of  the Deep Basin Assets acquisition (see note 6). Upon closing of  the 
Deep Basin Assets acquisition on September 8, 2010, the subscription receipts were converted on a one for one basis, for no 
additional consideration and without further action, into common voting shares of  the Company. On September 17, 2010, 
Cequence completed the sale of  2,500 common voting shares related to an over-allotment option on the subscription 
receipts offering discussed above at $2.10 per share for total proceeds of  $5,250.

On September 10, 2010, the Company completed the acquisition of  Temple (see note 5(c)) and issued 46,846 common 
voting shares with a deemed value of  $2.28 per share for total deemed consideration of  $106,809.

On September 10, 2010, Cequence completed the sale of  2,950 common voting shares through a private placement to a 
major shareholder as well as certain management and directors of  the Company at $2.10 per share for total proceeds of  
$6,195. The transaction has been recorded at the exchange amount, which is the amount of  consideration established and 
agreed to by the related parties, and is equal to fair value. As at December 31, 2010 no amounts are included in accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities related to the transaction.

notes to the consolidated financial statements
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13. share capital (continued) 
On November 30, 2010, the Company completed the sale, on a private placement basis, of  2,250 units at a price of   
$2.00 per unit for total proceeds of  $4,500. Each unit entitles the holder to:

•	 one	common	voting	share	on	a	CDE	“flow-through”	basis;	
•	 one	warrant	to	purchase	one	common	voting	share	on	a	CDE	“flow-through”	basis	at	any	time	on	or	after	August	1,	2011	 

and prior to August 15, 2011 at a price set as a 10 percent premium to the 10 day volume weighted average trading 
price	of 	the	Company’s	shares	on	the	TSX	for	the	period	July	18,	2011	to	July	29,	2011	(the	“2011	Warrants”);	and	

•	 one	warrant	 to	purchase	one	common	voting	share	on	a	CDE	“flow-through”	basis	at	any	 time	on	or	after	 
August 1, 2012 and prior to August 15, 2012 at a price set as a 10 percent premium to the 10 day volume 
weighted	average	trading	price	of 	the	Company’s	shares	on	the	TSX	for	the	period	July	18,	2012	to	July	31,	2012	 
(the “2012 Warrants”).

The purchaser has unconditionally committed to exercise the 2011 Warrants prior to August 15, 2011 and Cequence 
has exercised the option to hold 1,500 of  the shares initially issued in escrow until such time as the 2011 Warrants are 
exercised. If  the 2011 Warrants are not exercised, the shares held in escrow shall be cancellable at no cost to Cequence 
and no redress to the shareholder. The 2012 Warrants are conditional on the exercise of  the 2011 Warrants and if  the 2011 
Warrants are not exercised in accordance with their terms, the 2012 Warrants become null and void. No value has been 
attributed to the 2011 Warrants or 2012 Warrants as they are issuable at the prevailing value of  the stock at the time of  
issuance. As at December 31, 2010, the Company has incurred approximately $3,000 of  the qualifying CDE expenditures.

As at December 31, 2010, there were no issued or outstanding non-voting shares (December 31, 2009 – none).

14. stock based compensation plans

stock options

During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company issued 10,958 stock options at prices ranging from $1.76 to 
$3.13	to	employees	and	directors.	The	options	have	a	five	year	life	and	25	percent	vest	annually	commencing	one	year	
following	the	grant	date	for	options	issued	in	the	first	half 	of 	2010,	whereas	options	issued	in	the	second	half 	2010	vest	
one third annually commencing one year following the grant date. The Company utilized a Black-Scholes option pricing 
model to price the options. During the year, 880 options were cancelled and 1,204 options were forfeited.

A summary of  the inputs used to value stock options is as follows:

DECEMBER 
31, 2010

$

DECEMBER 
31, 2009

$
Risk-free interest rate 1.9% – 2.9% 2.7%
Expected life of  options 5 years 5 years
Expected volatility 50% – 60% 50%
Expected dividend rate 0% 0%
Expected forfeiture rate 6% – 15% 14%
Weighted average fair value $1.00 $2.00

notes to the consolidated financial statements
years ended december 31, 2010 and 2009
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14. stock based compensation plans (continued) 
 stock options (continued)

A summary of  the status of  the Company’s stock option plan and changes during the years ended December 31, 2010 
and 2009 is as follows:

DECEMBER 31, 2010 DECEMBER 31, 2009

Number  
of  Options 

(000’s)

Weighted 
Average  

Exercise Price 
$

Number of  
Options

(000’s)

Weighted 
Average  

Exercise Price
$

Outstanding, beginning of  period 839 4.40 789 8.56
Granted 10,958 1.92 900 4.32
Cancelled (880) 3.50 - -
Forfeited (1,204) 2.72 (850) 8.19
Outstanding, end of  period 9,713 1.99 839 4.40

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 2010: 

OPTIONS OUTSTANDING OPTIONS EXERCISABLE

Range of  
Exercise Price
$ 

Weighted 
Average 

Exercise Price
$

Number 
of  Options 

Outstanding
(000’s)

Weighted 
Average 

Contractual Life 
Remaining

(years)

Number of  
Options

(000’s)

Weighted 
Average 

Exercise Price
$

1.76 – 1.99 1.98 9,708 4.7 - -
8.36 8.36 5 6.8 4 8.36

1.99 9,713 4.7 4 8.36

During the year ended December 31, 2010, $2,721 (2009 – $192) in compensation expense related to stock options has 
been recognized in the consolidated statement of  operations. 

performance warrants

As at December 31, 2009, the Company had a total of  5,200 performance warrants that were exercisable into a common, 
non-voting share of  Cequence at a price of  $1.88. At the time the performance warrants were negotiated the market 
price	of 	the	Company’s	shares	was	$1.48.	The	performance	warrants	were	divided	into	three	equal	tranches	with	the	first	
one-third having a four year term and vested if  the 20 day weighted average share price of  Cequence exceeded $3.20. The 
second tranche had a 54 month term and vested if  the 20 day weighted average share price of  Cequence exceeded $4.40. 
The	final	third	of 	the	performance	warrants	had	a	five	year	term	and	vested	if 	the	20	day	weighted	average	share	price	
of  Cequence exceeded $5.60. The performance warrants were convertible to non-voting shares of  Cequence. 

During the year ended December 31, 2010 these warrants were cancelled as part of  the acquisition of  Temple and any 
unrecognized stock based compensation expense was recognized in income. The cost to cancel the warrants of  $451 was 
recognized as a transaction cost and capitalized as part of  the acquisition (see note 5(c)).

The Company recognized $142 of  stock based compensation for the performance warrants in the year ended  
December 31, 2010 (2009 – $520).

notes to the consolidated financial statements
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15. contributed surplus

DECEMBER 
31, 2010

$

DECEMBER 
31, 2009

$
Opening balance 7,818 5,596
Stock-based compensation expensed (note 14) 2,863 712
Share repurchase under NCIB - 912
Warrants expired unexercised - 598
Ending balance 10,681 7,818

16. loss per share
Net loss per share has been calculated based on the weighted average number of  common shares outstanding during the 
period. The following table reconciles the denominators used for the basic and diluted net loss per share calculations. 
No stock options or warrants have been included in the calculation of  diluted shares outstanding for the year ended  
December 31, 2010 (December 31, 2009 – none) as their inclusion would be anti-dilutive.

2010 2009
Basic weighted average shares 69,713 21,085
Effect of  dilutive stock options and warrants - -
Diluted weighted average shares 69,713 21,085

17. contingencies and commitments

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015+ Total
Office	leases  $ 782 552 482 482 281  $ 2,579
Pipeline transportation 1,684 1,684 1,684 1,684 1,541 8,277
Drilling services 177 1,500 - - - 1,677
Total  $ 2,643 3,736 2,166 2,166 1,822  $ 12,533

The Company acquired a pipeline transportation contract in a property acquisition in 2009 that expires on November 30, 2015. 

The Company has a commitment to use the drilling and related services of  the Claimant of  a lawsuit settled in the 
first	quarter	of 	2010,	at	fair	market	value,	in	the	amount	of 	$3,000	over	the	two	years	following	the	date	of 	settlement.	
Cequence is obligated to spend a minimum of  $1,500 in each of  the two years following the date of  settlement to avoid 
any penalties under the commitment. Cequence has incurred $1,323 as at December 31, 2010.

18. financial instruments and risk management
The	Company’s	financial	instruments,	including	derivative	financial	instruments,	recognized	in	the	consolidated	balance	
sheet consist of  cash, accounts receivable, commodity contracts, investments, demand credit facilities, accounts payable 
and accrued liabilities and long-term debt related to investments.

The fair values of  the Company’s cash, accounts receivable, demand credit facilities, accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
and long-term debt related to investments approximate their carrying values due to their short terms to maturity and the 
floating	interest	rate	on	the	Company’s	debt.	

The Company’s fair value hierarchy for those assets and liabilities measured at fair value as of  December 31, 2010 
comprises	cash,	which	is	considered	a	level	1	financial	instrument.

notes to the consolidated financial statements
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18. financial instruments and risk management (continued)
The	nature	of 	these	financial	instruments	and	the	Company’s	operations	expose	the	Company	to	market	risk,	credit	risk	
and liquidity risk. The Company manages its exposure to these risks by operating in a manner that minimizes these risks. 
Senior management employs risk management strategies and policies to ensure that any exposure to risk is in compliance 
with the Company’s business objectives and risk tolerance levels. The Board of  Directors has overall responsibility for 
the establishment and oversight of  the Company’s risk management framework. The Board has established policies in 
setting risk limits and controls and monitors these risks in relation to market conditions.

a) market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, commodity prices, and interest rates 
will	affect	the	Company’s	net	earnings	to	the	extent	the	Company	has	outstanding	financial	instruments.	These	risks	are	
generally outside the control of  the Company. The objective of  the Company is to mitigate market risk exposures within 
acceptable limits, while maximizing returns.

commodity price risk

The	nature	of 	the	Company’s	operations	results	in	exposure	to	fluctuations	in	commodity	prices.	Management	continuously	
monitors commodity prices and initiates instruments to manage exposure to these risks when it deems appropriate. As a 
means	of 	managing	commodity	price	volatility,	the	Company	enters	into	various	derivative	financial	instrument	agreements	
and	physical	contracts.	Derivative	financial	instruments	are	marked-to-market	and	are	recorded	on	the	consolidated	balance	
sheet as either an asset or liability with the change in fair value recognized in net income (loss).

The	Company	has	no	outstanding	positions	for	commodity	derivative	financial	instruments	at	December	31,	2010.

On October 15, 2010, the Company completed the sale of  its 2011 fixed price commodity contracts totalling  
4,000 GJ/day at prices ranging from $5.85 to $6.20 per GJ for total proceeds of  $3,386. This resulted in a gain recognized 
in the consolidated statement of  loss of  $219. 

For the year ended December 31, 2010 realized gains from commodity derivative contracts recognized in income were 
$3,737 compared to a gain of  $9,319 in the prior year.

The fair value of  the commodity contracts outstanding at December 31, 2010 was $nil (2009 – $1,420). For the year 
ended December 31, 2010 the Company recorded an unrealized loss of  $2,793 from derivative commodity contracts 
compared to a loss of  $1,614 in the prior year. An estimate of  credit risk has been made in the valuation of  all derivative 
commodity contracts.

foreign exchange risk

The	Company	is	exposed	to	foreign	currency	fluctuations	as	crude	oil	and	natural	gas	prices	are	referenced	to	U.S.	dollar	
denominated prices. As at December 31, 2010 the Company had no forward, foreign exchange contracts in place, nor 
any	significant	working	capital	items	denominated	in	foreign	currencies.

interest rate risk

The Company is exposed to interest rate risk to the extent that changes in market interest rates impact its borrowings 
under	the	floating	rate	credit	facilities.	The	floating	rate	debt	is	subject	to	interest	rate	cash	flow	risk,	as	the	required	cash	
flows	to	service	the	debt	will	fluctuate	as	a	result	of 	changes	in	market	rates.	The	Company	has	no	interest	rate	swaps	or	
financial	contracts	in	place	as	at	or	during	the	year	ended	December	31,	2010.

As at December 31, 2010 a 1 percent change in interest rates on the Company’s outstanding debt, with all other variables 
held constant, would result in a change in net loss of  $572 ($411 after tax). 

notes to the consolidated financial statements
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notes to the consolidated financial statements
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18. financial instruments and risk management (continued) 

b) credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of  financial loss to the Company if  a counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet  
its contractual obligation. The Company is exposed to credit risk with respect to its accounts receivable, cash and 
commodity contracts. 

The majority of  the Company’s accounts receivable are due from joint venture partners in the oil and gas industry and 
from marketers of  the Company’s petroleum and natural gas production. The Company mitigates its credit risk by entering 
into contracts with established counterparties that have strong credit ratings and reviewing its exposure to individual 
counterparties on a regular basis. 

As at December 31, 2010, the accounts receivable balance was $16,439 of  which $1,545 was past due. The Company 
considers all amounts greater than 90 days past due. These past due accounts are considered to be collectible, except as 
provided in the allowance for doubtful accounts. When determining whether past due accounts are uncollectible, the 
Company factors in the past credit history of  the counterparties. At December 31, 2010 the Company has an allowance 
for doubtful accounts of  $490 (2009 – $274). As at December 31, 2010, 40 percent of  the total receivables balance is 
due from marketers of  the Company’s oil and natural gas production, 16 percent is due from the vendor of  the Deep 
Basin Assets related to purchase price adjustments (see note 6) and 12 percent is due from the Government of  Alberta 
relating to Alberta drilling incentives.

Cash	consists	of 	bank	balances.	The	Company	manages	the	credit	exposure	of 	cash	by	selecting	financial	institutions	
with high credit ratings.

As at December 31, 2010, the maximum exposure to credit risk was $17,760 (2009 – $43,430) being the carrying value 
of  its cash, accounts receivable, commodity contracts and investments, as applicable. 

c) liquidity risk

Liquidity	risk	is	the	risk	that	the	Company	will	not	be	able	to	meet	its	financial	obligations	as	they	are	due.	The	nature	
of 	the	oil	and	gas	industry	is	capital	intensive	and	the	Company	maintains	and	monitors	a	certain	level	of 	cash	flow	to	
finance	operating	and	capital	expenditures.	Refer	to	note	20	for	disclosure	related	to	the	management	of 	capital.

The	timing	of 	cash	flows	relating	to	financial	liabilities	as	at	December	31,	2010	is	as	follows:

< 1 Year 1 – 2 Years 2 – 5 Years Thereafter
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 36,240 - - -
Demand credit facilities (note 10) - - 57,125 -

36,240 - 57,125 -
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19. changes in non-cash working capital

2010
$

2009
$

Accounts receivable (1,693) (1,694)
Deposits and prepaid expenses 274 636
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 1,755 12,404
Net change in non-cash working capital 336 11,346

Allocated to:
Operating activities (2,017) 9,676
Investing activities 2,353 1,670
Financing Activities - -

336 11,346

20. capital management
Cequence’s	objectives	are	to	maintain	a	flexible	capital	structure	in	order	to	meet	its	financial	obligations	and	to	execute	
on strategic opportunities throughout the business cycle. The Company’s capital comprises shareholders’ equity, demand 
credit facilities and working capital. Cequence manages the capital structure and makes adjustments in light of  economic 
conditions and the risk characteristics of  the underlying assets.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, Cequence may issue new common shares, issue new debt or replace 
existing debt, adjust capital expenditures and acquire or dispose of  assets. 

The	Company	evaluates	its	capital	structure	based	on	the	non-GAAP	measure	of 	net	debt	to	cash	flow	from	operating	
activities and the current credit available to Cequence compared to its budgeted capital expenditures. At December 31, 2010 
Cequence has a negative net consolidated working capital of  $73,125 (December 31, 2009 – 7,430 positive).

Net debt to cash flow provides a measure of  the Company’s ability to manage its debt levels under current 
operating	conditions.	The	ratio	is	calculated	as	net	debt,	defined	as	current	debt,	long	term	debt	and	working	capital	 
excluding commodity derivative assets or liabilities and the current portion of  future income taxes, divided by cash  
flow	from	operating	activities	before	asset	retirement	expenditures	and	changes	in	non-cash	working	capital	for	the	 
most recent quarter. 

It	is	the	Company’s	objective	to	maintain	a	net	debt	to	annualized	cash	flow	ratio	of 	less	than	2:1.	As	at	December	31,	2010,	
the ratio was calculated as 2.3:1 (December 31, 2009 – 0:1) based on annualized quarterly results. Cequence’s debt to cash 
flow	ratio	for	the	current	quarter	is	above	the	Company’s	target	due	mainly	to	lower	than	forecast	natural	gas	prices	and	
the concentration of  annual budgeted capital expenditures to the winter months. In response, Cequence made certain 
adjustments to its capital structure including: 1) the issuance of  2,250 CDE Flow through common shares in the fourth 
quarter	of 	2010	for	total	proceeds	of 	$4,500	(see	note	13);	2)	disposition	of 	minor	properties	for	proceeds	of 	$4,500,	
subject	to	final	adjustment,	in	the	fourth	quarter	of 	2010;	and	3)	bought	deal	financing	for	total	gross	proceeds	of 	40,553	
in March 2011 (see note 22). 

The Company’s current borrowing capacity is based on the lenders’ semi-annual review of  the Company’s oil and 
natural gas reserves. The Company is also subject to various covenants including hedging no more than 67 percent of  
production. Compliance with these covenants is monitored on a regular basis and at December 31, 2010 the Company 
was in compliance with all such covenants.

notes to the consolidated financial statements
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21. related parties
An executive of  the Company is a member of  the board of  directors of  an entity that is a supplier of  seismic services 
to Cequence. The Company incurred a total of  $11 with this vendor in the year ended December 31, 2010. These 
transactions have been recorded at the exchange amount, which is the amount of  consideration established and agreed to 
by the related parties, and is equal to fair value. As at December 31, 2010, $5 is included in accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities related to these transactions.

22. subsequent events
On	March	2,	2011,	Cequence	filed	a	preliminary	short	form	prospectus	to	qualify	the	distribution	of 	11,650	common	
voting	shares	at	$2.85	per	share	for	gross	proceeds	of 	$33,203	and	2,100	common	voting	shares	on	a	CDE	“flow-through”	
basis at $3.50 per share for gross proceeds of  $7,350. The sale is to occur on a bought deal basis with gross proceeds 
totalling $40,553 and is expected to close on March 17, 2011. Cequence further granted the underwriters an over-allotment 
option to purchase an additional 1,748 common voting shares for $2.85 per share for gross proceeds of  $4,980, for a 
period of  up to 30 days following the closing of  the offering. There can be no assurance that the over-allotment option 
will be exercised.

On March 3, 2011, Cequence entered into an agreement to sell certain oil and gas properties in central Alberta for total 
cash consideration of  $22,000, subject to adjustments.

notes to the consolidated financial statements
years ended december 31, 2010 and 2009

(All figures expressed in thousands except per share amounts unless otherwise noted)



54Cequence Energy annual report 2010   

management
Paul Wanklyn 
President & CEO

Howard Crone, P.Eng 
Executive Vice President & COO

David Gillis, CA 
Vice President, Finance & CFO

James R. Jackson, P.Eng 
Vice President, Engineering

David P. Robinson, 
Vice President, Geology

Christopher C. Soby 
Vice President, Land

Stephen R. Stretch 
Vice President, Geophysics

Mike Stewart 
Vice President, Operations

Erin Thorson, CMA 
Controller

directors
Don Archibald 
Chairman

Peter Bannister

Paul Colborne

Robert C. Cook

Howard Crone

Andrew L. Evans

Brian Felesky

James K. Gray

Francesco Mele

Paul Wanklyn

transfer agent and registrar
Valiant Trust Company 
Calgary, Alberta

head office
700, 326 11th Avenue SW 
Calgary, AB T2R 0C5 
T:  403-229-3050 
F:  403-229-0603 
E:  info@cequence-energy.com 
W: www.cequence-energy.com

auditors
Deloitte & Touche LLP 
Calgary, Alberta

bankers
Canadian Imperial Bank of  Commerce 
Calgary, Alberta

legal counsel
MacLeod Dixon LLP 
Calgary, Alberta

evaluation engineers
GLJ Petroleum Consultants 
Calgary, Alberta

stock exchange listing
Toronto Stock Exchange 
Symbol: CQE

corporate information

designed by Bryan Mills Iradesso



Cequence Energy Ltd.

Suite 700, 326 11th Avenue S.W.
Calgary, AB T2R 0C5

Phone: 403-229-3050
Fax: 403-229-0603

info@cequence-energy.com


